UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED
A BEHER 2 F

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(MEESHESFMRILZBERAF)
Stock code BR17XHE : 768

ORORORORROMNORORORORIORAoORIoORO

Annual Report 2019 #F %R



el ) ' . _:. .— | =]
e 'Awlﬁ Ege iy

NN NN N N o s

CONTENTS

Corporate Information

Management Discussion and Analysis

Profile of Directors

Report of the Directors

Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Independent Auditors’ Report

Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 8%

NEER

23

25

37

54

59

66

67

68

69

70

71



UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBHREBRAF

CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen (Chairman)
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LEUNG Man Lai, CPA

AUDITORS
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA (Chairman)
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA (Chairman)
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA (Chairman)
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

PRINCIPAL BANKER
OCBC Wing Hang Bank, Limited

STOCK CODE
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 768

WEBSITE
http://www.uba.com.hk

DNAEHR

g
HITES
BERREEL(ZE)
HEMmEE

BIUEHTES
BRoR & o4& - CPA
O Ik 1 58
HzEEEE

NEME
RIS L - CPA

B EED
BEestmEBmAERRAR
HEREFE

EREEE
BRR&E AL CPA(EE)
B i 1 58

HzEEEs

FHEsS
RRE&ELL  CPA(ZE)
iR 4
HERELE
HERTE

REZEES
RRE&ELL  CPA(ZE)
iR 4
HERELE
HERTE

TEERET
ER/KFRITARRDA

RERE
BERBAR ST 768

At

http://www.uba.com.hk

N m
v N

y = )

/.

=




CORPORATE INFORMATION

INVESTMENT MANAGER
Upbest Assets Management Limited

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre

300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman
KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL REGISTRAR
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House

3rd Floor, 24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH REGISTRAR
Tricor Standard Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Annual Report 2019 4 #

DNAEHR

REKE
XEERARARF

EBTEEE MY
B

=8 8 P 3005%
ERPMEFRLIGERE

ERLEES
P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEREIERNEFERLE
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House

3rd Floor, 24 Shedden Road
P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

EBRODBFEEDE
SEBERRAT
B

ERKNEFR183%

& R L5412




UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBBREBR AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31t March, 2019, UBA Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) recorded a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$23.3 million (2018: HK$21.5 million)
of which unrealised loss of HK$12.0 million (2018: HK$23.4 million) in
relation to the listed securities and HK$12.4 million in relation to the
unlisted investment. Those valuation of listed and unlisted investments
were based on the adoption of the change in accounting policy of
HKFRS 9 on 1st April, 2018 which affected the fair value, unrealised
gain or loss and classification of the investments. The loss per share
was HK$0.0210 (2018: HK$0.0203). Gross proceeds from disposal of
trading securities significantly decreased 68% from HK$124.8 million
to HK$40.5 million as the Group wants to focus more on unlisted
shares investment which expecting to bring better returns than trading
in listed securities based on historical record. Also, it is in line with
the decreasing transaction volume of 9% in Hang Seng Index (“HSI")
comparing with last year. As at 31t March, 2019, the net assets of the
Group were approximately HK$157.9 million (2018: HK$146.4 million).
The net assets increased by 8% when compared with last year was
mainly due to the Company conduct a fund raising activity by placing
shares amount HK$16.7 million during the year which are intended to be
used for investments in listed securities and unlisted securities.

During the year, the global and local equity markets had experienced
intense volatility. The Group’s proactive investment strategy was to
maximize profit for shareholders during this period, through investment
in listed securities with relatively high yield and more stable, especially
the bank, transportation and telecommunication sectors which
contributed around half of the Group’s turnover with HK$2.8 million
dividend, also the dividend from unlisted shares also contributed
around HK1.67 million to the Group.

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group’s investment portfolio was well
diversified and comprised of different sectors including bank,
telecommunications, retail businesses, properties and manufacturing,
etc, in which investment in listed securities amounted HK$98.9 million
(2018: HK$103.9 million) and unlisted investment with fair value at
HK$29.4 million (2018: carrying amount of HK$8.9 million) which
match with the strategy of the Group. In addition, one of the unlisted
investments invested during the year has been successfully listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in
May 2019 so that bringing a positive impact toward our Group in the
coming year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The strategy of the Group in short term is to trading the listed securities
and maintain sufficient dividend level for the Group operation. For the
long term strategy is to balance the listed and unlisted investment so
as to bring better returns for our shareholders and to maintain sufficient
liquidity for the future actions when fluctuation in stock markets and
investing in unlisted investment may have high potential. Therefore,
the Group conducted a placing during the year and the placing was
completed on 4" January, 2019 with net proceeds approximately
HK$16.7 million. This fund raising can strengthen the financial
position of the Group and provide funding to the Group to meet any
future investment opportunities. The placing also represents good
opportunities to broaden the Shareholders and the capital base of the
Group.

During the corresponding period, the global and local equity markets
had experienced intense volatility. The trend of the stock markets
are extremely different between U.S., China and Hong Kong from the
second quarter to fourth quarter of 2018 but the trend became very
similar since the end of December 2018 to first quarter of 2019. The
difference in 2018 was mainly due to the effect of the beginning of a
tariff war between U.S. and China as well as the interest rate hike in
U.S. which brought favorable impact toward U.S. but negative effect to
China and Hong Kong. When entering 2019, the tariff war between U.S.
and China has eased together with the news of U.S. Federal Reserve
(the “Fed”) decisions on reduction of the numbers of rate hikes in 2019
together with the new monetary policy in China stimulate the whole
world stock markets.

In the first half of 2018, a prologue to the trade war was given between
U.S. and China when undertaking the effect from the U.S. President
Donald Trump (“Trump”) by identifying China as a currency manipulator
by unfairly setting the low valuation in RMB and allowing cheap imports
into the U.S. goods market and leading uncompetitive. Therefore,
Trump started to level the playing field on trade and reduce the U.S.
trade deficit by imposing tariffs towards China. Together with the good
economic data, like low unemployment rate, the Fed increased interest
rate by 0.25% each in June and September 2018 respectively. The
Dow Jones Index increased 9.77% from 24,103 at end of March 2018
to 26,458 at the end of September 2018. However, the effect of trade
war was underestimated toward the business in U.S. as the ongoing
tensions already damaged the profits of many companies, as well as the
interest rate increased by 0.25% in December 2018 and projecting two
more rate hikes in 2019, together with the inverted U.S. Treasury yield
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBBREBR AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

curve which represents short term yield higher than the long term and
according to history, it may represent the recession of U.S. economies.
The Dow Jones Index decreased 15% to the bottoming at 22,874 at the
end of December 2018. When entering 2019, the tariff war between U.S.
and China has eased, Trump and Chinese President Xi Jinping agreed
to a cease-fire on tariffs on billions of goods effective since 1% January,
2019 and also agreed to a 90 day cease-fire to ease trade tensions until
1st March, 2019. In addition, the Fed decisions on lowering their outlook
for the number of rate hikes in 2019 from two times to one time and may
presumably closer to the end of its rate hike cycle and slated to shrink
its balance sheet stimulate the stock market and the Dow Jones Index
increased sharply by 18% to 29,051 at end of March 2019.

Meanwhile, the China stock market sentiment was in opposite to US and
Europeans in 2018 and rise in 2019. In order to increase the stability of
the banking system funds, optimize the liquidity structure of commercial
banks and financial markets, the People’s Bank of China reduced its
required reserve ratio three times for a total of 2.5% since April to
December 2018. However, being seriously affected by the trade war
with U.S., the economic data became worse just as the GDP dropped
to 6.5% for the year 2018, the Caixin China Manufacturing Purchasing
Managers Index (“PMI") at December 2018 was reaching the 18 months
low at 49.7 since June 2017. As a result the Shanghai Composite Index
dropped 23% from 3,168 at end of March to the bottom 2,440 at 4th
January, 2019. The tariff war between U.S. and China eased in early
2019 and the People’s Bank of China reduced its required reserve ratio
for 1% again in January 2019. The Chinese government also turning to a
proactive fiscal policy and a moderately loose currency policy to ensure
stable economic growth under the current situation, and promoting
“‘New 4 trillion stimulus plan” which included central investment in
infrastructure and value-added tax reform to lighten the burden of
enterprises. All of them brought a positive effect and led the Shanghai
Composite Index jumped 27% to 3,090 at end of March 2019.

Back to the Hong Kong Stock Market, which was highly sensitive to the
news of the global economy, especially the negative effect from trade
war between U.S. and China, as well as the interest rate hike in U.S.
during this year. Hong Kong finally followed the upward adjustment of
U.S. and raised the interest rate by 0.125% in September 2018, which is
the first time to increase interest rate since 2006. This act may increase
the financing cost of corporations and individuals which increase their
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

burden and has a damaging effect on the consumption of the Hong
Kong economy. Together with the impact from trade war between U.S.
and China which also affect the trading and manufacturing industries
and led the Hong Kong economy become worse. As a result, the HSI
decreased 14% from 30,093 in March 2018 to 25,753 at the end of
December 2018. When entering into 2019, the market sentiment revised
due to the trade war between U.S. and China has been eased, together
with the presumably closer to the end of its rate hike cycle in U.S. and
the development of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
which stimulate the economy and stock market. HSI increased 13% from
25,753 t0 29,051 at the end of March 2019.

PROSPECTS

We expect the global stock markets will be full of challenges in the
coming few months especially there is a lack of progress on U.S.-China
trade deal enforcement terms which has triggered Trump to threaten
dramatic new tariffs on China by 10" May, 2019 and China is now
mulling suspending negotiations. This trade negotiating impasse will
lead an escalation of the tariff war and would severely impact stocks
and economy of U.S. and China more than currently expected, the
global economy will also enter a turbulent market environment with
a downward trend. Lack of a trade agreement in 2019 would raise
the odds of a near-term recession and much lower stock prices and
will bring a ripple effect to the worldwide investors and reduce their
investment desire.

Due to these reasons, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about
the outlook of the global and Hong Kong equity markets. We will seek
and evaluate good investment opportunities to enrich our investment
portfolios. We will invest in more unlisted equity securities with good
potential to be listed, it is our future business decisions by building on
our successful experience in the past. We will also continue to adopt
and maintain a cautious and pragmatic investment approach in order to
bring better returns for our shareholders.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBBREER AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Group held lots of listed investments and certain unlisted
investments with fair value as at 31s March, 2019. The top ten listed
investments and unlisted investments represented significant portion in
the net assets of the Group as at 31¢ March, 2019 as below:

RZE-NFZA=1+—H FXEEFERZ L
MRABZ RO TRAFENFELTRE - X

LA

BEMELTREN-_ZT-NF=A

=t HVEARBEREETNEENNE &

BRIOT -
Listed equities securities investments tHREEBSFRE
As at 315t March, 2019 As at 31t March, 2018
RZE-NE=A=1-H RZE-N\§=A=1—H
Approximately Approximately
% of total % of total
Number of assets of Number of assets of
Name of investee companies share Fair value the Group share Fair value the Group
hAKE BA%E
REEL BEEY
REATEMR RAEE AFE Bot KingE AVE Aot
HK$’000 HK$'000
Tz TET
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 40,000 3,298 2.08% 40,000 3,756 2.53%
0001)
RINZEXBRAF (REFS : 0001)
PCCW Limited (Stock Code: 0008) 5,800,265 28,305 17.81% 5,800,265 26,333 17.73%
EARBMBERAF (REHFT : 0008)
Grand Field Group Holdings Limited 10,506,000 1,523 0.96% 10,504,000 1,891 1.27%
(Stock Code: 0115)
BEEEERAR (KRG 0115)
HKC International Holdings Limited 15,720,116 1,729 1.09% 15,720,116 2,374 1.60%
(Stock Code: 0248)
EARAERERERAR (REE - 0248)
China Merchants Land Limited 1,510,000 1,978 1.24% 1,510,000 2,492 1.68%

(Stock Code: 0978)
RERENERRA (REEY : 0978)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEENWED N
As at 31% March, 2019 As at 31t March, 2018
R=E-nF=A=1+-H RZZE-\F=ZA=1+—H
Approximately Approximately
% of total % of total
Number of assets of Number of assets of
Name of investee companies share Fair value the Group share Fair value the Group
hARE hA%E
HEEL BEEY
REATIEHR Ok AVE B Bingg ATE Epiysd
HK$°000 HK$'000
T TET
Yi Hua Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2213) 26,578,278 19,934 12.54% 28,970,278 28,970 19.50%
REERARAE (RERS: : 2213)
Bank of China Limited (Stock Code: 3988) 2,600,000 9,256 5.82% - - -
PERITROARAR (REHF : 3988)
Gemilang International Limited 4,791,250 8,385 5.28% 5,991,250 16,835 11.33%
(Stock Code: 6163)
YIRRBBR AR (REHET - 6163)
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 27,033,000 15,409 9.70% 27,033,000 12,976 8.74%
(Stock Code: 8023)
BYZ&EBRAA (REFET - 8023)
Chi Ho Development Holdings Limited 2,320,000 3,248 2.04% 2,070,000 2,981 2.01%
(Stock Code: 8423)
BRERERARRAR (RRET : 8423)
93,065 58.56% 98,608 66.39%
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBBREBR AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A brief description of the business, financial performance and prospect
of the Listed securities investments is as follows:

1. CK Hutchison Holdings Limited (“CKH Holdings”)
CKH Holdings is incorporated in Cayman lIslands and is
principally engaged in property development and investment,
hotel and serviced suite operation, property and project
management, and investment in infrastructure businesses and
securities, ownership and leasing of movable assets.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31%' December,
2018, CKH Holdings recorded revenue of approximately
HK$277,129 million, total comprehensive income approximately
HK$30,689 million and net assets of approximately HK$590,823
million. CKH Holdings’'s Earnings before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) and Earnings before
Interest and Tax (“EBIT") growth of 9% and 8% respectively. All
core divisions reported improved underlying performance for
the year. In addition, the full year contribution from businesses
acquired by the infrastructure division during 2017 together with
the accretive contribution from the acquisition of remaining 50%
interest in Wind Tre S.p.A. in September 2018 added to earnings
and cash flow growth.

The Group believes that prudent capital management of all
investment activities, strict financial management, as well as
a healthy liquidity and debt profile which supports its current
investment grade ratings, all continue as the core disciplines
and strategic directions of CKH Holdings. Therefore, the Group
holds 40,000 shares in CKH Holdings, representing 0.001%
interest in the issued share capital of CKH Holdings based
on the annual report at 31 December, 2018, and derived a
dividend income of approximately HK$117,000 for the year
ended 31t March, 2019.

2. PCCW Limited (“PCCW?”)
PCCW is incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally engaged
in the provision of telecommunication services, internet and
multimedia services, sale and rental of equipment and technical
services, investment in and development of infrastructure,
properties and technology-related business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31¢t December,
2018, PCCW recorded revenue of approximately HK$38,850
million, total comprehensive income of approximately HK$2,489
million and net assets of approximately HK$19,609 million.
Revenue from HKT increased by 6% to HK$35,187 million,
underpinned by steady growth in Telecommunications Services
(“TSS”) and Mobile Services revenue as well as higher mobile
handset sales. Revenue from the Media business grew by 10%
as all three platforms of pay TV, free TV and over-the-top (“OTT”)
services delivered business expansion.

The Group believes that in 2019, PCCW’s core business of
media entertainment, IT solutions and telecommunications will
continue to safeguard their market-leading positions in Hong
Kong while seeking growth also through the development of new
business streams and expansion in new markets. Therefore, the
Group holds 5,800,265 shares in PCCW, representing 0.075%
interest in the issued share capital of PCCW based on the annual
report at 31t December, 2018 and derived a dividend income
of approximately HK$1,735,000 for the year ended 31 March,
2019.

Grand Field Group Holdings Limited (“Grand Field”)

Grand Field is incorporated in Bermuda and is principally
engaged in investment holding, property development and
property investment.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31t December,
2018, Grand Field recorded revenue of approximately HK$68
million, total comprehensive income of approximately HK$233
million and the net assets of approximately HK$2,277 million.
Grand Field reported a net profit of approximately HK$352
million, and increase by approximately HK$120 million from last
year. The increase was mainly attributed to a further fair value
gain recorded on investment properties of Shenzhen Buji Zongke
Yun Duan project.

The Group believes that the Xuzhou Project can not only make
some deployment in the Gangdong - Hong Kong - Macao
Greater Bay Area, but also decentralize property market risks
for Grand Field. Therefore, the Group holds 10,506,000 shares
in Grand Field, representing 0.429% interest in the issued
share capital of Grand Field based on the annual report at 31
December, 2018. No dividend was received during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HKC International Holdings Limited (“HKC”)

HKC is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in the sale of mobile phones, sale of business solutions
and property investment.

Pursuant to the interim report ended 30" September, 2018,
HKC recorded revenue of approximately HK$156 million, total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$57,000 and net
assets value of approximately HK$304 million.

The Group believes that the following three key business
segments of HKC are: (i) as an authorised distributor partner of
Nokia brand and an authorised distributor of Vivo brand for Hong
Kong, the sales of mobile phones for the second half of the year
will be stable; (ii) for Internet of Things (“IOT") solutions, they
will strengthen the cost control and develop more products to
meet market demand; and (iii) for property investment segment,
the rental income will be stable, as first six months of year 2018,
all the investment properties have been fully let. Therefore, the
Group holds 15,720,116 shares in HKC, representing 1.262%
interest in the issued share capital of HKC based on the interim
report at 30" September, 2018 and derived a dividend income of
approximately HK$30,000 for the year ended 31%t March, 2019.

China Merchants Land Limited (“China Merchants”)

China Merchants Land is incorporated in Cayman Islands and
is principally engaged in investment holding and property
development.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31t December,
2018, China Merchants recorded revenue of approximately
RMB11,955 million, total comprehensive income of
approximately RMB2,215 million and net assets of approximately
RMB23,797 million. The gross profit amounted to approximately
RMB3,988 million, representing a decrease of about 30%
compared with last year and the decrease was mainly due to
the decrease in total gross floor area completed and delivered
during 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group believes that China Merchants will capitalize on the
advantages of overseas listing, so as to facilitate the diversified
business development after corporate transformation as well
as to explore the asset management market actively and grasp
market investment opportunities. Therefore, the Group holds
1,510,000 shares in China Merchants, representing 0.0308%
interest in the issued share capital of China Merchants based on
the annual report at 31 December, 2018 and derived a dividend
income of approximately HK$150,000 for the year ended 31¢
March, 2019.

Yi Hua Holdings Limited (“Yi Hua Hidg”)

Yi Hua HIdg is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in operations of department stores in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”"). Following various acquisitions from
2016 to 2018, Yi Hua HIdg has also expanded its operations
into property investment, property development and property
management business.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31%' December,
2018, Yi Hua Hldg recorded revenue of approximately RMB773
million, total comprehensive loss of approximately RMB115
million and net assets of approximately RMB159 million. The
main going concern is, as at 31% December, 2018, the current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB389
million. To tackle the concern, Yi Hua Hidg has obtained some
additional financing: (i) issued bonds for total net proceeds
of approximately RMB4,699 million; (ii) a total borrowing of
approximately RMB31 million from third parties; and (iii) obtained
an advance of approximately RMB38 million from a director.

The Group believes that Yi Hua Hldg will place emphasis on
increasing the business size and efficiency and strengthen the
control of costs and expenses to vigorously push ahead the
healthy and sustainable development with a view to generating
more attractive return for its shareholders. Therefore, the Group
holds 26,578,278 shares in Yi Hua Hldg, representing 2.650%
interest in the issued share capital of Yi Hua Hldg based on the
annual report at 31%t December, 2018. No dividend was received
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Bank of China (“BOC”)

BOC is incorporated in the PRC and is principally engaged in
provision a full range of corporate banking, personal banking,
treasury operations, investment banking, insurance and other
services to its customers in the Chinese mainland, Hong Kong,
Macau, Taiwan and other major international financial centres.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31% December,
2018, BOC recorded profit of approximately RMB192,435 million,
total comprehensive income of approximately RMB225,567
million and net assets of approximately RMB1,725,397 million.
During the year, BOC realized a profit attributable to equity
holders of approximately RMB180,086 million, an increase of
RMB7,670 million or 4.45% compared with prior year. Return on
average total assets ("ROA”) was 0.94%, and return on average
equity (“ROE”) was 12.06%.

The Group believes that Chinese economic growth will remain
stable during this period of important strategic opportunity, with
cross-boarder finance demonstrating high development potential
and many other factors creating favorable conditions for sound
growth for BOC. Therefore, the Group holds 2,600,000 shares in
BOC, representing 0.0009% interest in the issued share capital
of BOC based on the annual report at 315t December, 2018 and
derived a dividend income of approximately HK$492,000 for the
year ended 31t March, 2019.

Gemilang International Limited (“Gemilang”)

Gemilang is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in design and manufacture bus bodies and assemble
buses and have over 25 years of track record in the industry.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31t October,
2018, Gemilang recorded revenue of approximately US$57
million, total comprehensive loss of US$1.05 million and
net assets of approximately US$16 million. During the year
approximately 100% of revenue was derived from the sales
of aluminum buses and bus bodies. The demand in aluminum
buses and bus bodies will continue to experience a higher
growth due to increasing demand to use material that meets
environmental standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

10.

The Group believes Asian market has a lot of growth potential as
countries continue to urbanise with growing population and bus
is a convenient and cost efficient form of public transportation
that can be implemented in many years. Gemilang are well
positioned and equipped with the technological capability to
capture this opportunity. Therefore, the Group holds 4,791,250
shares in Gemilang representing 1.908% interest in the issued
share capital of Gemilang based on the annual report at 31
October, 2018 and derived a dividend income of approximately
HK$174,000 for the year ended 31t March, 2019.

Kwong Man Kee Group Limited (“KMK”)

KMK is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in provision of car park flooring services and ancillary
services in Hong Kong. KMK commenced the business in
construction in 2003 and is an established contractor in the
Hong Kong car park flooring industry.

Pursuant to the interim report ended 30" September, 2018,
KMK recorded revenue of approximately HK$53 million and
total comprehensive income of HK$6 million and net assets of
approximately HK$79 million. During the period, the increase
of revenue was mainly due to (i) the significant numbers of
contracts under progress from the year ended 318 March, 2018;
and (ii) the increase in numbers of projects undertaken during
the six months ended 30" September, 2018.

The Group believes that with the extensive experience
and reputation in the car park flooring industry, KMK may
achieve continuous growth and create reasonable return for
shareholders. Therefore, the Group holds 27,033,000 shares in
KMK, representing 4.506% interest in the issued share capital
of KMK based on the interim report at 30" September, 2018 and
derived a dividend income of approximately HK$369,000 for the
year ended 31%*March, 2019.

Chi Ho Development Holdings Limited (“CHH”)

CHH is incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged of the provision of renovation and maintenance works,
alteration and addition works (“RMAA”) and fitting-out works in
Hong Kong.

10.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the interim report ended 30" September, 2018,
CHH recorded revenue of approximately HK$142 million, total
comprehensive income of approximately HK$7 million and the
net assets as at 30" September, 2018 was approximately HK$93
million. CHH is of the view that the number of properties to be
built and maintained in Hong Kong remains to be the key driver
for the growth of the Hong Kong RMAA and fitting-out industry.
With the experience team and reputation, CHH should have
better market share.

The Group is still optimistic about the Hong Kong property
market and trust a better performance of CHH in the future.
Therefore, the Group holds 2,320,000 shares in CHH,
representing 0.29% interest in the issued share capital of
CHH based on the interim report at 30" September, 2018. No
dividend was received during the year.
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W-E-NF=A=+-A

EEENWED T

BREHEZZT-N\FALA=Z+HLEZF
Hish & - RSB M E49142,000,0001
T R A M a8 FEA)7,000,0007% 7T K%
& FE 493,000,000/ Tt © B R AR H
NEBBEEREFNMEHENAR
BERENERMEIRREBERENE
ZE ] RELBREHRMEER  BESE
BERHTISM0E -

AEENEEERMEN SHLEETE
WHREROEEEEETHNRER - Bt
A& B A EH2,320,0000 %15 0 B
ZE-NFAAZTHZHHREEE
WO BT 20.29% © AL E I U
BRE -

As at 31t March, 2018
RZE-N\E=f=1—H

Approximately Approximately
% of total % of total
assets of assets of
Proportion the Group Proportion the Group
of shares (by fair of shares Carrying  (by Carrying
Name of investee companies capital own Cost  Fair value value)  capital own Cost amount amount)
1] BA%E
BEEY BaEY
Bolt R
RENAER iR Al A DFE  (RDTE) mERALA A SEE (RRAE)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FEx TET TET
Guangdong Jingyeng Aquaculture 1.60% 4,220 5,228 3.29% 1.60% 4,220 4,220 2.84%
Company Limited (formerly known as
Guangzhou Jingyeng Aquaculture
Company Limited)
BREHKEREARAA (R BN
SRKERRERAA)
Diamond Motto Limited 16.67% 11,667 11,546 7.26% 16.67% 4,667 4,667 3.14%
Convertible bonds of JBB Builders 2.84% 5,000 12,600 7.93% - - - -

Investment Limited
JBB Builders Investment Limited

AHRES




Annual Report 2019 4 #k

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEN WD T

FLIMESFRENER  BHRB KA

prospect of the unlisted securities investments is as follows: ST :

A brief description of the business, financial performance and

Guangdong Jingyeng Aquaculture Company Limited
(formerly known as Guangzhou Jingyeng Aquaculture
Company Limited) (“Jingyeng Aquaculture”)

Jingyeng Aquaculture is incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China and is principally engaged in business
of aquaculture and feed production during the year.

Pursuant to the annual report for the year ended 31
December, 2018, Jingyeng Aquaculture recorded
net profit was approximately HK$25.5 million and net
assets of approximately HK$227.9 million. Jingyeng
Aquaculture’s net profit margin for the year was about
6.62%.

The Group believes that there will be steady growth in
aquaculture and feed production business in China and
it is beneficial to Jingyeng Aquaculture. Therefore, the
Group holds 1.6% interest in the issued share capital of
Jingyeng Aquaculture. No dividend was derived during
the year. The net assets attributable to the Group based
was approximately HK$3,646,000 (2018: HK$3,720,000).

Diamond Motto Limited (“Diamond Motto”)

Diamond Motto is incorporated in British Virgin Islands
and was principally engaged in business of investment
holding during the year. LMP International Limited
(“LMP™) is the only investment of Diamond Motto. The
principal activities of LMP is the trading of furnishings
and provision of interior design, fitting out and decoration
services.

Pursuant to the unaudited financial statements of
Diamond Motto for the year ended 31t March, 2019,
Diamond Motto recorded net profit after listing expenses
was approximately HK$760,000 and the net assets was
approximately HK$13 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group believes there is strong housing needs in
Hong Kong in the foreseeable future and is optimistic
about the interior and decoration business. Therefore, the
Group holds 50 shares in Diamond Motto, representing
16.67% interest in the issued share capital of Diamond
Motto. A dividend income of approximately HK$1,667,000
was received during the year ended 31st March,
2019. Based on the unaudited financial statements of
Diamond Motto at 31% March, 2019, the Group’s share
of the net assets of Diamond Motto was approximately
HK$2,179,000 (2018: HK$6,240,000).

JBB Builders Investment Limited (“JBB”)

JBB Builders International Limited (“JBBI") is
incorporated in Cayman Islands and is principally
engaged in engineering contractor business in Malaysia.
JBB is immediate and ultimate holding company of
JBBI. JBB is a private company incorporated in British
Virgin Islands and is principally engaged in business of
investment holding.

JBBI is the key active player in the marine construction
industry in Johor, Malaysia and so far, there is no such
Malaysian expert listed in Hong Kong in the Infrastructure
sector. With the solid management experience and
reasonable listing price valuation, the investment outlook
on holding the share is promising. The Group entered
into the subscription agreement with JBB on 14" May,
2018 pursuant to which the Group agreed to subscribe
for unlisted convertible bond with zero coupon rate
issued by JBB with a principal amount of HK$5,000,000
due on 14" May, 2019. The Group shall have right to
convert or exchange the entire outstanding principal
of the bond into shares of JBBI at any time during the
period from the issue date up to 14" May, 2019 or up
to the issue of official listing approval from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong to JBBI. The convertible bond
represented 2.84% of the issued and enlarged share
capital of JBBI before the Listing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the JBBI's IPO prospectus of the financial
statement for the four months ended 31 October, 2018,
i) the adjusted profit and other comprehensive income
for the period attributable to owners of the company (by
adding back the listing expenses and deducting profit
attributable to non-controlling interest) was RM8.775
million and ii) net assets was RM47.946 million. The
convertible bond exchanged to the JBBI listed shares
after completion of Global offering and the capitalisation
Issue, and the Group holds 2.13% in the issued shares
capital of JBBI after listing. No dividend was derived
during the year.

JBBI is listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 10th May, 2019 and the IPO price is
HK$1.18.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$25,713,000 (2018: HK$10,533,000). The Board
believes that the Group has sufficient financial resources to satisfy its
commitments and working capital requirements.

As at 31t March, 2019, none of listed equity securities of the Group had
been pledged to secure margin facilities and loans granted by a related
company.

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio had not been presented (2018: Nil) as there was no debt
as at 31 March, 2019 (2018: HK$NIil).

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend any payment of final
dividend.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital structure

During the year ended 31t March, 2019, the Company has conducted
a fund raising activity by the placing of 211,954,000 shares (“Placing
Shares”) at a price of HK$0.082 per Placing Share (the “Placing”).
The Placing was completed on 4" January, 2019. The Company has
successfully placed an aggregate of 211,954,000 Placing Shares to
not less than six placees, represented (i) 20% of the issued share
capital of the Company immediately prior to completion of the Placing;
and (ii) approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares.
Company’s issued share capital was increased from 1,059,778,200 to
1,271,732,200 immediately after the completion of the Placing.

Capital commitment and contingent liabilities
As at 31t March, 2019, the Group had no material capital commitment
and contingent liabilities

Material acquisition and disposal
During the year, the Group had not made any material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

Exposure to foreign currency fluctuation and related hedges

The Board believes that the foreign exchange risk is minimal as
the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars to carry out its business
transactions. Therefore, there was no material foreign exchange
exposure to the Group.

Employment and remuneration policies

As at 31t March, 2019, the Group employed a total of 3 full-time
employees (2018: 3), including the executive directors of the Group.
Employees’ remuneration are fixed and determined with reference to the
market rate.

Share options
The Company does not have share option scheme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) will be convened to be held
on Friday, 16th August, 2019. The notice of AGM will be published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and sent to the
shareholders of the Company and together with the Company’s 2019
Annual Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
13" August, 2019 to Friday, 16" August, 2019, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company (“Shares”)
will be registered. In order to determine the identity of shareholders
of the Company who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all
Share transfers accompanied by the relevant Share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12" August, 2019,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“CG Code”) throughout the year
ended 31¢t March, 2019, except for the following.

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. None of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company were appointed
for a specific term. None of the non-executive directors has entered
or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company or
its subsidiaries. But all directors of the Company are subject to the
retirement by rotation according to the provisions under article 157
of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Code Provision A.6.7

Under the code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. The
independent non-executive director, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan was
unable to attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company
held on 17" August, 2018 due to his other business engagements.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code.
Moreover, non-attendance of this independent non-executive director
may also constitute deviation from code provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code. Despite of that independent non-executive director, all the other
directors of the Company were present in the AGM.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to extend our sincere
thanks and express appreciation to those who have supported us
during the year.

By order of the Board
WONG Yun Kuen
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19" June, 2019
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen (“Dr. Wong”), aged 61, is an executive director
of the Company. He has been elected as Chairman of the Board on 30"
April, 2015. He received a Ph.D. Degree from Harvard University, and
was “Distinguished Visiting Scholar” at Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania. Dr. Wong has worked in financial industries in the
United States and Hong Kong for many years, and has considerable
experience in corporate finance, investment and derivative products.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. Dr. Wong is
the chairman and executive director of Far East Holdings International
Limited (Stock Code: 36), a non-executive director of China Sandi
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 910) and an independent non-executive
director of Kingston Financial Group Limited (Stock Code: 1031),
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (Stock Code: 559), Kaisun Energy
Group Limited (Stock Code: 8203), GT Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 263), Synergis Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2340) and Tech
Pro Technology Development Limited (Stock Code: 3823). Dr. Wong
was an executive director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1246) (July 2016 to December 2018). Dr. Wong was also an
independent non-executive director of Asia Coal Limited (Stock code:
835) (September 2018 to June 2019), Sincere Watch (Hong Kong)
Limited (Stock Code: 444) (September 2012 to December 2017) and
(Bauhaus International (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 483) (October
2004 to December 2016). All the companies mentioned above are listed
companies in Hong Kong. Save as disclosed above, Dr. Wong does not
hold directorship in other public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past
three years.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 46, is an executive
director, member of the remuneration committee and member of the
nomination committee of the Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree
from the California State University, USA. He has over 20 years
experience in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is
also an executive director of Upbest Group Limited (Stock Code: 335).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in other
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is an independent
non-executive director, chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan holds two master degrees in Practising Accounting
and Business Law from Monash University, Australia. Professionally, he
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
CPA Australia, The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
in UK, The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries, The Hong
Kong Institute of Directors and is a member of The Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. He is also an associate of the
Institute of Certified Management Accountants of Australia, and The
Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is awarded with “Chartered Banker”
by the Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland, UK. Currently, he is a
standing member and convenor of Hong Kong members of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Yunfu City of Guangdong
Province, standing member of Guangdong’s Association For Promotion
of Cooperation between Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao, member
of China Overseas Friendship Association, member of Friends of Hong
Kong Association, vice chairman and secretary general of China Hong
Kong and Macau Boundary Crossing Bus Association. Mr. Chan was
also appointed as member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue) of
HKSAR from 2009 to 2011. Currently, he is the managing director of
a transportation company which is a subsidiary of a listed company.
He is also an independent non-executive director and chairman of the
audit committee of Upbest Group Limited (Stock Code: 0335). Other
than as disclosed above, Mr. Chan holds no directorship in other public
companies listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas
now or in the past three years and he does not hold any other position
with the Company and other members of the Group.

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung (“Dr. Fung”), aged 58, is an independent non-
executive director, member of the audit committee, member of the
remuneration committee and member of the nomination committee
of the Company. He has been the honorary medical adviser of the
Institute of Securities Dealers Limited since 2000 and the Hong Kong
Chamber of Small & Medium Business Limited since 1997. Dr. Fung is
an affiliated fellow of the Royal Australian College of Physicians and the
foundation fellow of Hong Kong Academy of Medicine. In addition, he
is a member of the International Society of Nephrology and Hong Kong
Society of Nephrology. He also holds a master's degree in business
administration from the Newport University in the United States. Save
as disclosed above, Dr. Fung does not hold directorship in other public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald (“Mr. Tang”), aged 60, is an independent
non-executive director, member of the audit committee, member of the
remuneration committee and member of the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Tang received his legal education from the University
of Hong Kong and has been a barrister in private practice since 1981.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang has not held any directorship
in other public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) has pleasure in presenting their
report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31% March, 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are investments holding
companies.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the outlook of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position are
provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 4 to 19
of this annual report. These discussion form part of this director’s report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note 8 on the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance are discussed in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” from pages 54 to 58 of
this annual report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
The Group’s turnover and contribution to operating results were all
derived from investments in listed and unlisted securities in Hong Kong.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment are set out in note 17 on the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2019 are set out in
note 30 on the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March, 2019 are set out
in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 66 and page 67 respectively.

The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final dividend.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 24 on the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY B E
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group U TAKNEERBEREMREE 7 £EREE
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary is not part EEEIHE o W EWELCRIRGAT ﬁ‘@ﬁ%
of the audited consolidated financial statements. 28
RESULTS
1/4/2018 -  1/4/2017 - 1/4/2016 - 1/4/2015 - 1/4/2014 -
31/3/2019  31/3/2018  31/3/2017  31/3/2016  31/3/2015
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT (B51B) /EH (24,436) (19,680) 4,829 (10,166) 66,880
Taxation Fi1R 1,154 (1,812) - - -
Net (loss)/profit attributable RAREBAER
to owners of the Company (B#])/EFFE (23,282) (21,492) 4,829 (10,166) 66,880
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEEHEE
31/3/2019  31/3/2018  31/3/2017 31/3/2016  31/3/2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Total assets AEBE 158,933 148,536 173,040 161,425 181,099
Total liabilities BEHE (1,034) (2,171) (2,163) (261) (9,033)
Net assets BEFE 157,899 146,365 170,877 161,164 172,066




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in consolidated statement of changes in equity and note
29 on the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus and retained profits under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands. The share premium of the Company is
available for paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends can
be distributed out of the share premium, contributed surplus and retained
profits of the Company which in aggregate amounted to approximately
HK$95,455,000 (2018: HK$83,404,000) as at 31t March, 2019.

REPURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year.

INVESTMENT POLICIES

The Company has adopted an investment objectives, investment
policies and investment restrictions which has not been changed since
its listing in 2000 in the Stock Exchange and summaries are as below:

Investment objectives and policies

The Company is an investment company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with the primary objective of achieving medium term capital
appreciation by investing in listed and unlisted companies in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Company also intends to invest in unlisted
companies with the potential to seek a listing on the Stock Exchange or
any overseas stock exchanges.

The Company has adopted the following investment policies:

o Investments will normally be made in the form of equity or
equity-related securities and debt instruments in listed and
unlisted companies engaged in industries including (but not
limited to) the information technology, telecommunications,
manufacturing, service, property and infrastructure sectors
to maintain a balance in the Company’s exposure to different
industry sectors in order to minimize the impact on the Company
of any downturn in any particular sector;

Annual Report 2019 4 #

1
BRAFEAZASERARRIFEZESERD
RIERN G EEZEBRRRAMBRRM E29 -

BRERSHERREZRE  ARAATHDIK
CREEBVERNERE EHBBRREET -
ARRZBOEEBAREAARZAKERK
MR ZHRE  AERRFIRERS AR
AATZREKERSENEBENINERE
ERRFTHHEN2ER RZT—NF=
A=+—H ARBEIZBRDEE  BERBH IR
B4 H 45954550008 T (ZE— N\F
83,404,000 7T) ° RIBA AR 2 A ER AR
BT REFEHURERERS -

BO HERBOAQRTzLmES

ARFEHAEMMBRRERFENLEER -
HERBEARDR Z R/ EHES

REWK

ARFERMEERS REBRRRERS -
ZERERR REARKNBRERSE -ZFTT
FREE A EMERAARPEREE - T30 -

B A B R
ARRH-BENSRS MK REAF
EREEARRRENEBRFEL EHRIEL
TRRNERTEAKEE - ARRFREEAR
BENEBRR R AENESR M LT 25
WA

AR AERE TR E R -

. —RBRERERREZEOTEEE (BETR
) BERRE - BH o BE - R HE
RERER  EHRIF LT ARMERK
FRAEBZESREBIA UTA
NRIETRTERRTERR - LM
EERTE-BEFEHARABTRLT
2

=

27



28

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBBREBR AT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

J The Company will seek to identify entities with a record of
profit growth, strong management, high levels of technical
expertise and research and development capabilities as well as
management commitment to the long term growth. However, the
Company is flexible in considering investments in companies
or other entities which are considered by the Board and the
Investment Manager as being special or in recovery situations;

J Where possible, the Board and the Investment Manager would
seek to identify investments where there is a certain degree of
synergy with other investee companies and where co-operation
between such companies would be of mutual benefit to each
other; and

J The Company’s investments are intended to be held for medium
term capital growth. There is no present intention to realize any
of such investments in any specific period or by any specific
date. Nevertheless, the Directors will from time to time realize
investments where they believe the realization would be in the
best interests of the Company or where the terms on which such
realization can be achieved are believed by the Directors to be
particularly favourable to the Company.

Investments restrictions

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules relating to the listing of
investment companies, certain restrictions on investments are imposed
on the Company. In part to meet such restrictions, the Board has
resolved that the Company may not:

1. either itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiaries or in
conjunction with any connected person take legal, or effective,
management control of underlying investments and in no event,
will the Company itself or through its wholly-owned subsidiaries
own or control more than 30%, (or such lower percentage as
may from time to time be specified in the Takeover Code as
being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) of the
voting rights in any one company or body;

2. invest in any company or entity other than wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company if such investment will result in
more than 20% of the Net Asset Value being invested in such
company or entity as at the date the investment is made;
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3. buy or sell commodities, commodity contracts or precious
metals, except that it may purchase and sell futures contracts on
stock indices and securities which are secured by commodities
or precious metals; and

4. invest more than 50% of its assets outside Hong Kong and
the PRC to the extent of contravening its primary objective of
achieving medium term capital appreciation by investing in
listed and unlisted companies in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Company has to comply with investment restrictions 1 and 2 above
at all times while it remains listed as an investment company under
Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.

Investment restrictions 3 and 4 cannot be changed for at least 3
years from the date of this prospectus without the approval of the
Shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution. The Board has no
present intention to change any of the above-mentioned investment
restrictions.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. WONG Yun Kuen (Chairman)
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald
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In accordance with Article 157 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Dr. WONG Yun Kuen and Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan shall retire by
rotation from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
All other directors continue in office.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

At the Annual General Meeting, ordinary resolutions will be proposed
to re-elect Dr. WONG Yun Kuen as executive director, and Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee as independent non-executive director.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of
the year ended 31% March, 2019 from each of the independent non-
executive directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Up
to and as at the date of this report, the Company still considers the
independent non-executive directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Atrticles of Association of the Company provides that every director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of their office otherwise in relation
thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained appropriate directors
and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions
against the directors of the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIES

As the Group principally engages in investment in listed and unlisted
securities, no specific customers or suppliers will be involved in the
operation of business. The investee companies and the investment
manager are good working partners creating value for the Group. The
Group also values the knowledge and skills of its employees, and
continues to provide favourable career development opportunities for its
employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

In the opinion of the Board, there were no contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31t March, 2019, the interests and short positions of the directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) which were notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“SEHK”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the directors and the chief executive
of the Company were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be and were recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Number of shares

EERTHEERARAREMBHELT 2
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Percentage
of issued
Personal Family Corporate Other share capital
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total BB TIRAR
EEnE BAER REER HEE S HitgE s BE Bot
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
in the Company
AAREREMEOIBTZEBR
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note) - - 340,000,000 - 340,000,000 26,74%
WiEtm (H )
Note: Wt

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is one of the discretionary objects of a trust which
assets include interests in the entire issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth
Limited. Fung Fai Growth Limited holds 340,000,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31¢t March,
2019 was the Company, its subsidiaries or its associate a party to
any arrangement to enable the directors or chief executives of the
Company, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its associated corporation.

#Z M HFung Fai Growth Limited# % * Fung Fai
Growth LimitedB8 — {55t 2 A Eaff B - MEBERTAE
BEBP—BEZEA  Fung Fai Growth Limited#¥
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Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31t March, 2019, the following persons or corporations, other
than the interest disclosed above in respect of the directors, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number the total number
Name of shareholders of shares held of shares in issued
IRER A HE R EHE NEEBITROVBEDLE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company
AATEBREMEIEBTZEBER
Fung Fai Growth Limited (Note (a)) 340,000,000 26.74%
Fung Fai Growth Limited (#/3%(a))
Kingswell Holdings Group Limited (Note (b)) 192,000,000 15.10%
Kingswell Holdings Group Limited (#/##(b))
Notes: Wit -
(a) The entire issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth Limited is owned  (a) Fung Fai Growth Limitedz & #E #1TH& A&

by a trust. Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and his family members are
the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include interests in the entire
issued share capital of Fung Fai Growth Limited.

(b) The entire issued share capital of Kingswell Holdings Group Limited is
beneficially owned by Mr. LEONG Chi Wai.
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(b) Kingswell Holdings Group LimitedZ 2882
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Save as disclosed above, as at 315t March, 2019, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered by the Group during
the year ended 31t March, 2019 which also constitute continuing
connected transactions under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), are disclosed in note 28 on the consolidated financial
statements.

The investment manager of the Company is regarded as a continuing
connected person of the Company under Chapter 21 of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the investment management agreement constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company. The management fee during
the year amounted to approximately HK$2,243,000.

As disclosed in more details under the Company’s announcement
and circular dated 26™ January, 2016 and 2" August, 2016. The
Group entered into certain conditional agreements with the Upbest
Group Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Upbest Group”), which would
constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT") on the part
of the Group for the year ended 31¢ March, 2019. The CCT are subject
to approvals by the independent shareholders of the Company and
the independent shareholders of the Upbest Group respectively. The
relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have been
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
24" August, 2016. Save for disclosed above, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 28 on
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into:

i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 28 on the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

i) were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Company;

iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions; and

iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant
announcement.

CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Details of significant management contracts in relation to the Company’s
business are included in note 28 on the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A
Guide for The Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group. The Audit Committee
had also reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31t March, 2019 in conjunction with the Company’s external auditors.

The audit committee of the Group consists of 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Dr. FUNG
Lewis Hung and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied throughout the year ended 31t March,
2019 with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange, except that independent non-executive directors of
the Company were not appointed for a specific term but are subject
to retirement by rotation according to the Articles of Association of the
Company. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors of
the Company have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the
Company's shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares.

AUDITORS

As disclosed in the announcement dated 5" March, 2019, Li, Tang,
Chen & Co. has resigned as the auditors of the Group with effect from
5" March, 2019 as the Company and Li, Tang, Chen & Co. cannot reach
a consensus with the Group on the audit fee for the financial year ended
31t March, 2019.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been appointed by the Board
as the new auditors of the Group with effect from 5" March, 2019 to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of Li, Tang, Chen & Co.
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited shall hold office until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire and a resolution for their

reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

WONG Yun Kuen
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19" June, 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sound corporate governance practices are crucial to the smooth,
effective and transparent operation of a company and its ability to
attract investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders,
and enhance shareholder value. The Company is committed to high
standards of corporate governance with a view to being transparent,
open and accountable to our shareholders.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31
March, 2019, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout year ended
31t March, 2019, except for the following.

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. None of the
independent non-executive directors of the Company were appointed
for a specific term. None of the non-executive directors has entered
or proposed to enter into any service contracts with the Company or
its subsidiaries. But all directors of the Company are subject to the
retirement by rotation according to the provisions under article 157
of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.

Code Provision A.6.7

Under the code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors
and other non-executive directors should attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. The
independent non-executive director, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan was
unable to attend the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company
held on 17" August, 2018 due to his other business engagements.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code.
Moreover, non-attendance of this Independent Non-executive Director
may also constitute deviation from code provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code. Despite of that independent non-executive director, all the other
directors of the Company were present in the AGM.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are three board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31t March, 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company
comprises five members. Dr. WONG Yun Kuen, acts as Chairman of
the Board, whereas Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew acts as Managing
Director of the Company. The Company has three independent non-
executive directors, they are Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Dr. FUNG
Lewis Hung and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald. One of whom namely,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise.

All directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each director are disclosed in
page 23 to page 24 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive director has pursuant to the Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transaction by the directors (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the Company confirmed that all directors have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
during the year.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the directors
shall hold office subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting of the Company at least once every three years and eligible for
re-election.
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Function

The Board of Directors, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for
formulation and approval of the Group’s development and business
strategies and policies, approval of annual budgets and business
plans, recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management
in accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board
of Directors, the Managing Director’s working guides, articles of
association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations. These executive directors conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies, at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.

The Company considers well-developed and timely reporting systems
and internal controls are essential, and the Board of Directors plays a key
role in the implementation and monitoring of internal financial controls.

The Board of Directors has established procedure to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The Articles of Association of the Company contain description of
responsibilities and operation procedures of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Directors holds regular meeting and listens to the operating
reports of the Company and makes policies. Significant operating
policies of the Company have to be discussed and passed by the Board
of Directors. Board meetings include regular meetings and irregular
meetings. The Board of Directors meets formally at least 4 times a year.

Besides regular and irregular meetings, the Board of Directors obtains
adequate information through working meetings, presided by the
Chairman in a timely manner, to monitor objectives and strategies of the
management, financial conditions and operating results of the Company
and provisions of significant agreements.
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For the financial year ended 31t March, 2019, the Board of Directors
held 12 regular executive Board meetings at approximately monthly
interval and 10 irregular Board meetings which were convened when
deemed necessary. Due notice and Board papers were given to all
directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association and the Code. Details of individual attendance of
directors are set out below:

Name of directors ESpE
Executive Directors HITES

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen HEEET

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEfRELE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRr&LE

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung BIRIER £

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HEREL

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are segregated
and assumed by two separate individuals who have no relationship with
each other to strike a balance of power and authority so that the job
responsibilities are not concentrated on any one individual.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board. The Chairman is also responsible for
deciding the agenda of each Board meeting, taking into account, where
appropriate, matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda.

The Managing Director is delegated with the authorities to manage the
Group’s business in all aspects effectively, implement major strategies,
make day-to-day decision and coordinate overall business operation.

The number of independent non-executive directors is more than
half of the Board membership. The Board membership is covered by
professionally qualified and widely experienced personnel so as to
bring in valuable contribution and different professional advices and
consultancy for the development of the Company.

Executive Board Meeting
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Irregular Board Meeting

HiTEEER TEHESSE
Attendance/ Attendance/
Total Meetings Held Total Meetings Held
HERE, SEEY HERY, EEAY
1212 9/10
12/12 10/10
N/A 1 9/10
N/A 138 A 10/10
N/A 1 iE A 10/10
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Responsibilities

In the course of discharging their duties, the directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- Regular board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance.

- Active participation on the boards of subsidiaries.

- Approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities.

- Monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting.

- Reviewing of the compliance with the CG Code.

-  Reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

- Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction.

- Ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity of
the Company, including financial statements, and relationship with
other stakeholders, and compliance with all laws and ethics.

To enable the Company’s directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, have been
established by the Board of Directors to strengthen its functions and
to enhance its expertise. These committees have been formed with
specific written terms of reference which is available on the Company’s
website set out details of the Committee’s duties, powers and functions.
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Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee is composed of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Dr. FUNG
Lewis Hung and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly to the Board of Directors and
reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as financial statements
and internal controls, to protect the interests of the Company’s
shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external

auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews

effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms

of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit

Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

Set out below is the summary of work done during the year:

- to review the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31t March, 2018 and for the six months ended 30" September,
2018;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control, financial controls
and risk management system;

- to review of internal audit function;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual caps;

- to review auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of representation;
and

- to consider and approve 2018 audit fees and audit work.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Name of directors EEME
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RR&ERE

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung IR i 1 2

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HERast
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee comprising one
executive director, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and three independent
non-executive directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Dr. FUNG Lewis
Hung and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
reviewed with reference to the Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities are to review and
consider Company’s policy for remuneration of directors and senior
management, to determine remuneration packages of executive
directors and senior management including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to the Board of
Directors remuneration of independent non-executive directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration Committee
done during the year:

- toreview the remuneration policy for 2018/2019;

- to review the remuneration of the executive directors and the

independent non-executive directors; and

-  toreview the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Name of directors EEME
Executive Director HITES

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew HEmELE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRoRSFEEAE

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung BRI E

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HEZEE
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Nomination Committee

The Board has established a nomination committee on 21t March, 2012
comprising one executive director, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and
three independent non-executive directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan,
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung and Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald. It is chaired by
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee, which is available
on the Company’s website, set out details of the Committee’s duties,
powers and functions, nomination procedures and the process and
criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company, summary of which is set out below:

review the structure, size and diversity (including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service)
of the Board at least annually; and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes to implement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
director;

review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives;

develop, maintain and review a policy for the nomination of
Directors, as appropriate. This includes the nomination procedures
and process and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship set out in the policy;

regularly review the time required from a Director to perform his
responsibilities; and

make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer, taking into account the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;
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The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Name of directors EEME
Executive Director $ITES

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew HFEmEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUEHITES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRoRSEE A

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung IR R 1 B

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HEZEL

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Diversity Policy”)
which became effective in September 2013. This Diversity Policy aims
to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board of
Directors, through the consideration of a number of factors in the Board
members’ selection process, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments are
based on merits, and have paid due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board in selecting candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the
Board for it to consider to appoint as director to fill casual vacancies
and consider of directors to be re-appointed at an annual general
meeting.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate.

a.  Reputation for integrity;

b. Accomplishment and experience in the investment industry, in
particular, in assets management, regulated license person and
related investment experience;

c.  Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

d. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;
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These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to
be appointed as a director and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a director.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board as a
whole as well as each Director to discharge their duties. During the year
ended 31t March, 2019, all directors have participated in appropriate
continuous professional development and provided the Company with
their records of training. A summary of training records provided by the
Directors is as follows:

Name of directors ESpE
Executive Directors HITES

Dr. WONG Yun Kuen HEEEET

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BERELE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RrR&ELE

Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung HRIER £

Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald HEErE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate

governance duties including:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company.

External Auditors

During the year and as at the end of the reporting period at 31t March,

2019, the remuneration payable to the Group’s existing auditors HLB

Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, and the remuneration paid to the

Group’s past external auditors, Li, Tang, Chen & Co. Certified Public

Accountants, are set out as follows:
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group'’s
assets at all times. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling
its corporate governance roles in the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance, risk management and internal controls, and the resourcing
of the finance and internal audit functions

The Board has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group and
this process includes updating the system of internal controls when
there are changes to business environment or regulatory guidelines.

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in place
for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of the annual
report and consolidated financial statements is sound and is sufficient
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and employees, and the
Group’s assets.

The investment manager assists the Board in the implementation of the
board’s policies and procedures on risk and control by identifying and
assessing the risks faced, and involving in the design, operation and
monitoring of suitable internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the
adequacy and integrity of the system of internal controls include the
following:

- The Executive Board is responsible to ensure the effectiveness of
the daily operations and that the operations are in accordance with
the corporate objectives and strategies.

- The Audit Committee of the Company reviews internal control
issues identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Policies and procedures have been designed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition; maintenance of
proper accounting records for the use of reliable information within
the business or external publication, and compliance of relevant
regulations, rules and legislations. The policies and procedures are
designed for providing reasonable but not absolute assurance to avoid
fraud, material misstatements or errors.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

An independent CPA has been engaged to perform the internal audit
function of the Group. The scope of internal audit will be determined at
the start of each year. As part of the ongoing review of the systems, the
internal audit reviews and assesses the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems, makes recommendation and reports to the Audit
Committee and the Board once a year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEUNG Man Lai was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company on 30" July, 2012. The Company Secretary reports to the
Directors of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board on
governance matters. According to the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
the Company Secretary has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Dividend Policy

The Company may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders,
provided that the Group records a profit after tax and that the
declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the normal
operations of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(iv) the general market conditions; and

(v) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands and Articles
of Association of the Company.
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Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under a
strict control, expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained. The allocation of resources and manpower in performing
accounting and financial reporting function are adequate to comply with
the requirement of Listing Rules.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility.

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year so as to improve communication and identify potential issues within
the Group.

LISTING RULES COMPLIANCE

During the year, the continuing connected transactions undertaken by
the Group are included in the transactions set out in note 28 on the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has fully complied with
the Listing Rules requirements. Financial Reports, announcements and
circulars have been prepared and published in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The prevailing internal control system
are compliant with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTORS COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its
shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include annual general meeting, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars. All resolutions put forward at a
shareholders meeting will be taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and
of the Stock Exchange after the shareholders meeting.
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An annual general meeting ("AGM”) held on 17" August, 2018, the
Chairman of the Board and the representative of external auditors was
available to answer questions at the meeting. The chairman of the
meeting had explained the procedures of conducting a poll during the
meeting. All resolutions were proposed by the Chairman at the meeting
and voted separately by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said
meeting were properly counted and recorded.

An extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) held on 26" March, 2019
for approval of continuing connected transactions. The Chairman of
the Board and Independent Non-Executive Directors were available
to answer questions at the EGM. The chairman of the meeting had
explained the procedures of conducting a poll during the meeting. All
resolutions were proposed by the Chairman at the EGM were voted by
way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were properly counted
and recorded.

Attendance of individual Directors at AGM and EGM during the year:
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Attendance/AGM Attendance/EGM
HERE, HERE
BRAFAE BRRFBRIRE
Name of directors EEHE
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. WONG Yun Kuen EREELT 1/1 1/1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew BEMmEE 1/1 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan BRoR R LA 0/1 11
Dr. FUNG Lewis Hung IS R At 8 11 11
Mr. TANG Hon Bui, Ronald GETE i 1/1 11

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
16" August, 2019 which will be conducted by way of poll.

ARBEERRBEFAGSEN_Z—-NFNA
TARBET BEURETALETRR
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SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHT

Way to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 89 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, details and
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Members’ Enquiries

Members should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong. Members may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publically available. Members may also make enquiries to
the following contact details of the Company:

Address: Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre,
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: 852 3575 9396

Constitutional Documents
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year.

The updated memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the Company’s website.
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Procedures and Sufficient Contact Details for Putting Forward
Proposals at Members’ Meetings

Members are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at members’
meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the Company Secretary
by written requisition. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company, members who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by the procedures set out in “Way to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statement of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 59
to 65.
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REPORTING SCOPE

UBA Investments Limited (the “Company”) is an investment company
and principally engages in investments in a diversified portfolio of listed
and unlisted companies. As an investment company, the Company
does not directly participate in the production and operation of its
subsidiaries. While actively seeking to optimise its investment portfolio
and maximise shareholder return, the Company lives up to its corporate
social responsibility and strikes a balance between the interests of
stakeholders such as the shareholders and the community, with the
ultimate goal of achieving a sustainable corporation.

In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, the Company hereby presents its environmental, social and
governance report for the year ended 31¢t March, 2019.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions, Use of Resources and Environment and Natural
Resources
The Group operates in the investment field and it's operation is
mainly office-based and the Group is committed to minimising
the impact of businesses on the environment through adopting
eco-friendly measures at the office.

The Group encourages employees to implement the following
environmental initiatives:

- to reduce paper consumption by using duplex printing,
reusing papers printed on one side and place for paper
waste recycling;

- using electronic storage and communication wherever
possible;

- setting air-conditioning temperature at 25 degree in
summer whenever possible to energy saving;

- to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the meeting
room and the computer at the workstation when not in
use; and

- Conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are
arranged where possible.

In view of the business nature, the Group’s operations do not
directly involve the use of natural resources as the Group
do not involve in any industrial process nor use any motor
vehicles. Hence there had been no direct emission relation to air
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

pollutants and greenhouse gases (“GHG”), no discharges into
water and land (Scope 1 as below table). The main emissions
and wastes produced by the Group are primarily attributable to
its use of electricity and paper (Scope 2 and 3 as below table).
Also the Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste and any non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to environmental protection during
the Reporting period that have significant impact on the Group.
The Company also believes that its business operations have
minimal direct impact on the environment.

Environmental performance

The Group believed that the environmental protection as
an important component to form a part of our corporate
responsibility and are therefore committed to promoting
environmental protection activities.

In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, our environmental performance of
“Emissions”and "Use of Resource” during the reporting period
are tabulated as below.

Use of Resource
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Resource type Total Consumption Consumption per person
BRER mEE ABRE
Electricity BN 16,856 kWh FEE 5619 kWh TR
Paper 4@ 9 kg A 3 kg Af
Greenhouse Gas Emission
BERBAR

Emitted per
Greenhouse gas indicators Major sources CO, emitted person
BEREES TERR a1 BER AR
Scope 1 51 Nil i - -
Direct emissions BEHER
Scope 2 #52 Electricity E/1 13,316 kg 2T 4439 kg 2T
Energy indirect emissions R B HE K
Scope 3 #53 Paper #H 43 kg R 14 kg 2AF
Other indirect emissions H A HE IR
Total CO, emission =R d
equivalents - HmEE=E 13,359 kg 2T 4,453 kg DT
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Electricity

The electricity consumed by the Group was mainly used in the
office during its normal business operation and supplied by
The Hong Kong Electric Co., Ltd. During the Year, the Group
has consumed 16,856 kWh of electricity with a monthly average
usage of 1,405 kWh and 5,619 kWh per person, which producing
CO, equivalent emissions of approximately 13,316 kg. These
consumption of the electricity was mainly attributable by the use
of air-conditioning in the office.

Water

There is no direct water supply to the office apart from water
uses/affluent discharges at shared facilities of the office
building. Water consumption by the Group for the year involved
mainly bottled drinking water uses at its offices premises and
the Group’s business operations do not require any other water
usage. The Group's office utilised a total of approximately 24
bottles of drinking water with total of 454 Liter, an average 2
bottles drinking water per month during the year.

Paper

The Company encourages employees to reduce paper
consumption by using duplex printing, reusing papers printed
on one side and place for paper waste recycling, also using
electronic storage and communication wherever possible.
During the year, the Group used a total of approximately 9 kg
of paper in its normal office operations for printing documents
and the total CO, equivalent emissions for the paper used was
approximately 43 kg.

SOCIAL

Employment

Employees is the most valuable asset to the Group. It is the
policy of the Group to employ person which is suitable to the
position with equal opportunity (non-discrimination against
gender, marital status, disability, age, race, family status, sexual
orientation, nationality and religion). Competitive remuneration
package will be provided for the employees. The Group is in
full compliance with relevant employment laws and regulation
just like the “Employment Ordinance” (Chapter 57), “Minimum
Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608), “Sex Discrimination Ordinance”
(Chapter 480), “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”
(Chapter 485), “Disability Discrimination Ordinance” (Chapter
487) and “Race Discrimination Ordinance” (Chapter 602), etc.
The Group is not aware of any non-compliance in relation to
employment laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.
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As at 31t March, 2019, we have 1 employee, 2 executive
directors and 3 independent non-executive directors of the
Company. All of our employees including directors are located in
Hong Kong and no turnover during the period. By gender, 100%
male. By age group, 50% and 50% between age group of 35 to
55 and over 55 respectively.

Health and Safety

The Group will provide a healthy and safety working environment
to the employees. The Group has provided a guideline for
work safety including environmental hygiene and cleanliness,
machine operation, smoking ban and fire prevention, hazardous
materials handling, arrangements in times of typhoons and
rainstorms, as well as response to emergencies, etc. By offering
opportunities for a flexible work arrangement, the Group also
encourage our employees to maintain a healthy work-life
balance.

The Group is in full compliance with the “Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance”(Chapter 509), and is not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation
to health and safety working environment during the Reporting
Period that have significant impact on the Group. During the
period, there was no staff suffer work-related fatalities and injury.

Development and Training

On-the-job training and continuous professional development
are important elements to enhance the industry knowledge
of the employees of the Group. The Group provide relevant
training opportunities to its employees from time to time and
encourage employees to attend seminars by themselves for
their own professional assertions which include Listing Rules
and accountancy update which can boost the competence
and efficiency of the employees and hence the Company’s
professionalism and performance. During the period, all staff
participated in training and the average number of the hours
spent on training per staff is more than 15 hours.

Labour standards

It is the policy of the Group to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations which prohibit the employment of child and force
labour.

The Group is not aware of any non-compliance with relevant
rules and regulations on preventing child or forced labour during
the Reporting Period.
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Supply Chain Management
The Group has maintained good practice to select and evaluate
its suppliers and their engagements.

As the Group operates in the investment field, it mainly
purchases office equipment and office supplies through
approved suppliers according to the quality of goods and
services provided. During the period, the major office supplies
are bottle of drinking water and printing paper which all
suppliers were located in Hong Kong.

Product responsibility

The Group does not have products or services provided to
customers and hence the product responsibility is not applicable
to the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to ensuring that no bribes, payment or
advantages are solicited from or given or offered to any persons,
whether in the public or private sector, for any purpose, which
can ensure the strict adherence to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance. The Group regard honesty, integrity and fair play
as the core values that must be upheld by our colleagues at all
times.

During the reporting period, the Group had no legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees.

Community investment

The Group encourages employees to contribute their time and
efforts in participating in various local community activities and
events.

The Group aiming at sponsor inmates and discharged prisoners
events such as charity fundraising activities for assisting
discharged prisoners organized by Christian Prison Pastoral
Association Limited for the year 2019.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Bl #7 ¢, 4% A ®A

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of UBA
Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 144, which comprise
the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31t March, 2019,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31t March,
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRERSEE

BARHERE

BREERERE
AREGEADRERAMACEXAE  HAHER
AMBRRBERIEMNERERCSTH ZFS

BN E SRS M RRETERERRL I
BRBEMAZERRTAGRE  RMYZSFRY
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAMARERTEEBRERSE

Valuation of unlisted financial assets measured at fair value

BROVERE2F LU BEE2MHE

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
FLHEAMBARN KRN E18

The financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss classified as level 3 under the fair value
hierarchy (“Level 3 Financial Instruments”), amounted to
approximately HK$29,374,000 as at 31¢ March, 2019.
BE_Z-NEF=A=1t—H BEATFEZERTEATER
BRaBRIR HBEESNERAF=-E(F=EcRIA]
H A R29,374,0008 T

For the year ended 31t March, 2019, the net fair value
losses on unlisted financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss is approximately HK$12,375,000.
BE_Z-NF=A=T—HLLFE  BEAFEREREIK
Z#meﬁéém N 1EF BB #) /12,375,000 7T °

The valuation of the Group’s unlisted financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss is based on a combination
of market data and different valuation models which may
require to consider numbers of inputs. The valuations of the
financial assets are complex and requires the application of
significant judgement by the management.
EEERATERBERINRZFETHBEEGEHIER
MSABRAETEZERRAARENTRAAERANES -
MBEENREREMRTEEREELERAE -

In determining the fair value of Level 3 Financial
Instruments, the Group engages independent professional
valuers to perform valuation of the aforesaid Level 3
Financial Instruments.

RETF=-"EcRIANATER SXEEFBEIIXR
B TR E=Eem T AETMHE-

Our procedures in relation to valuation of Level 3 Financial
Instruments included, but were not limited to:

FMEF-EeRTAGEREENEFEEETRR :

- Obtaining understanding of the valuation models
and the processes through enquiries with the
independent valuers and management's review
process of the work of the independent valuers with
respect to the valuation of financial assets;

- BRARBEAEMNEEEEB L(AEMNTKE
EfERIELEERRE  TRAGEEAMRE

- Evaluating the independent valuers’ competence,
capabilities and their experiences in conducting
valuation of similar financial assets;

- AEBUAEMETEEUNBEETENER - 8
R &5

= Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of financial
assets with the management, and together with our
own external valuation specialists, where necessary:

- ﬁﬁﬁ%%%jﬁﬁﬁiiﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FECHISBFEER B RMBEENGE

- evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation models and assumptions based on
the industry knowledge;

- BETEABFEHERANBRRNES 1L
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRELSE BMMARERTREERERSA

Valuation of unlisted financial assets measured at fair value

BOVERSE2 K LM BEEZME

- evaluating the appropriateness of the key
inputs by independently checking to the
relevant external market data and/or relevant
historical financial information:

- BB RS EBINDTSEEMN SR E
LHBEERFIHHARBA BN

- checking the mathematical accuracy of
valuation calculations; and

= REGEFENERERYE R

- Making inquiry for the background of the contracted
parties to understand the relevant investments and
identifying any conditions that were relevant to the
valuation of financial assets.

- BENA 2 ERIEHEANTREHEKRE  WHEER
B 75 & 2 fh (B AR R 0 (R AT AR 1 o

\|

We considered management’s fair value measurement on
financial assets were supported by the available evidence.
EMRAREREHHBEEN LA TEEFESIAEERD
X FF e
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31t March, 2018 were audited by another auditors who expressed an
unmodified opinion on 20" June, 2018.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

BYZEMRE
Hih=1g
REEBEHE T \F=ZA=+—HI&FE

WEAMBEBRRRRS — BRI EZ - XN =
Z-N\FRNA-TRERAKEUER

I

Hit & ¥

ERREFHHMANAR - HUENBREFR
FREZMEER  RAEMBRERLAZHMR
HRONTHMBER]) -

\

N

RMHEEMBHRREATEREAMER - &
PreRtREEMNTAZEESER °

BARBRMEGRENTRR ESL  RAZERER
MEEMER RABEEAMENER RGN
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—B ARMREAHER - RERAMBT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion sole to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design, and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2019 4 #k
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters, that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

BARHERE

. HESRARERL G EEZEE N
e & - REBFAERBREE © BE
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RREY BEREEFLIBELE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 19" June, 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

meElaEk

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

2019 2018
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 FET FET
Gross proceeds from disposal of HERZEHFD
trading securities FTiSRIB 2% 40,529 124,777
Revenue [YON 9 5,531 6,000
Net loss on financial assets at fair BRATERERERZ
value through profit or loss MIEEEZEBEFE 10 (24,483) (20,266)
Net loss on other investment at fair BAFERERRIIEZ
value through profit or loss HiiR & v BE
T (61) -
Other revenue H g A 11 247 334
Administrative and other operating THREAMEES H
expenses (5,613) (5,644)
Finance costs BE KA 12 (57) (104)
Loss before taxation BRELAIE B 13 (24,436) (19,680)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (AX) 15 1,154 (1,812)
Loss for the year attributable to TEERATEBA
owners of the Company ZEE (23,282) (21,492)
HK cents HK cents
JEA B
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted HAREE 16 (2.10) (2.03)
Dividend KRE Nil Nil

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BERI B B X TR 8 M R AR ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #&F&ZEWE K

For the year ended 31" March, 2019 HE-Z-NEF=A=+—HLFE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Loss for the year attributable to TEERRAFEEAZE
owners of the Company B (23,282) (21,492)
Other comprehensive loss Htt2HEE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently —E & r[gEEZf 7 1H 2
to profit or loss B A EH
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AL EREEEATE
financial assets 25 - (3,019)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, BRite 2 ANEREEMEE
net of tax gl - (3,019)

Total comprehensive loss for the year EARBEAZEH
attributable to owners of the Company BEAE (23,282) (24,511)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — FEPHMIEH R Z F4r 6 BB MR AR F 17
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31* March, 2019

RE BB R

R=—ZT—h&E=A=1+—H

2019 2018
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mt FET FE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment VEI VS 17 - 1
Available-for-sale financial assets AR ETKEE 18a - 28,273
- 28,274
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through BRATERERESR
profit or loss ZHBEE 18b 128,252 104,598
Amounts due from investee companies JEUIG & N R A 19 2,588 2,737
Amounts due from related companies JIE Uy B8 4 N B FUA 20 1,634 2,328
Deposits e 66 66
Other investment Hik & 21 680 =
Cash and bank balances Be MBITHE 22 25,713 10,533
158,933 120,262
Current liabilities nREAE
Accruals & A 354 359
Net current assets RBEEFE 158,579 119,903
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBEBRABAR 158,579 148,177
Non-current liabilities F¥RBERE
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIBEE 23 680 1,812
Net assets EEFME 157,899 146,365
Capital and reserves BAXRRE
Share capital P 7 24 12,717 10,598
Reserves & 145,182 135,767
Total equity iR 157,899 146,365
Net asset value per share BREEFE 25 0.12 0.14
The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 144 were SepZ{44E Y HBREDEEZEN -—"Z— A

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19"

June, 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

WONG Yun Kuen
Executive Director

HITEF
=R

FERXBTHLBHERRERDL -

CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Executive Director
HITEE
B1E




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31% March, 2019
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REEREEHR

HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

Share Share Fair value  Retained

capital premium  reserves profits Total

BAR  ROEE LATVERE RKREEA mst

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT BT

As at 1t April, 2017 RZE—+ENA—B#E# 10,598 92,564 9,332 58,382 170,876

Loss for the year AFEFRE - = - (21,492) | | (21,492)
Other comprehensive loss AEEHEMEZAEBE

for the year - - (3,019) - (3,019)
Total comprehensive loss AEEEABELESE

for the year - - (3,019) (21,492) (24,511)

As at 315 March, 2018 RZZE-N\E=ZA=+—H 10,598 92,564 6,313 36,890 146,365

Adjustments (Note 2) HE (H22) - = (6,313) 24,357 18,044

As at 1% April, 2018 (restated) R-Z-N\EMA—H(EF) 10,598 92,564 = 61,247 164,409

Loss for the year AEEER - - - (23,282)| | (23,282)
Total comprehensive loss AEEZHEBERE

for the year - - - (23,282) (23,282)

Placement of shares (Note 24(a)) B &RAD (#17£24(a)) 2,119 15,261 - = 17,380

Share issuing expenses BERNER - (608) - - (608)

As at 315 March, 2019 RZZ—NEF
=B=1+—H#&% 12,717 107,217 - 37,965 157,899
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS RERTRBR
BE-T-NF=AST—ALFE

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R2%#& v HERE
Loss before taxation BR 1 Bl 5 18 . (24,436) (19,680)
Adjustments for: ER T SBEL AR
Interest income FE WA (9) -
Interest expenses il B3 57 104
Dividend income BEWA (5,531) (6,000)
Depreciation nE 1 2
Allowance for expected credit loss on FBUWHRERNRIFIBZEREE
amounts due from investee companies EBRENEERE 2 -
Net unrealised loss on financial assets BRFEREREE W H
at fair value through profit or loss BEZAESRERE FE 24,483 23,444
Net unrealised loss on other investment BRATEREREIRZHEE
at fair value through profit or loss BBy XS ERFE 61 -
Operating cash flows before working capital EEASEPINCERENE
changes (5,372) (2,130)
Increase in amounts due from investee FE W 3% & A R R IBIE 1N
companies (2,590) -
Decrease in amounts due from JRE U5 A 22 1 R R IER
related companies ) 694 1,204
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets BAFERERRIIRIHBEEL
at fair value through profit or loss wD /(42 m) 198 (2,256)
Decrease in accruals JE 1 2 R (5) (1,804)
Cash used in operations REEBRAZRE (7,075) (4,986)
Interest received B H 2 9 =
Interest paid B FE (57) (104)
Net cash used in operating activities REEBERAHEFE (7,123) (5,090)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®REZFHZRER
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets B E Al ft HEHBKEE - (2,917)
Dividend income Bk E 5,531 6,000
Net cash generated from investing activities RETHELZRESFE 5,531 3,083
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES E#E82BRER
Proceeds from placing of shares Bﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁ’a Q! 17,380 =
Share issuing expenses ERNEHR (608) -
Net cash generated from financial activities HEEBHEL-BHEFE 16,772 -
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBEEBEYZEM/ (D)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FE 15,180 (2,007)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ENzHRERREEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 10,533 12,540
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERZRERBAESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 25,713 10,533
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH RERREEBNERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTH 74 25,713 10,533
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HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

GENERAL INFORMATION

UBA Investments Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. Its
principal place of business is situated at Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah
Kit Commercial Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in investment holding and trading of
securities.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company, and all values (including comparative
information) are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000)
except when otherwise indicated.

—REH

HAKRERARLQR (AR H—HE
RASHESEMRUIEREFZARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group's
financial year beginning on or after 1%t April, 2018:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 4 (Amendments)

HKFRS 15 (Amendments)

HKAS 40 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the Related
Amendments

Annual Improvements to HFKRSs
2014-2016 Cycle except HKFRS 12
(Amendments)

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Except as described below, the application of the new and

amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

RE P BHRRMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, (2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets
and (8) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments that
have not been derecognised as at 1%t April, 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to instruments
that have already been derecognised as at 1%t April, 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at 31t March, 2018 and
the carrying amounts as at 1t April, 2018 are recognised in the
opening retained profits and other components of equity, without
restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG 2. HFIRKEITEBUBRELER(F)
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) ERMEREEDNESEERIA (Z)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9 BXEAE B B EREIFTEE
H LR E
The table below illustrates the classification and measurement TRAPREXEABDR(ZZ—N\FH
of financial assets and financial liabilities and other items A—R) BEEEVBRELAFNR
subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial REBSHERFEZHRBHEE
application, 15t April, 2018. BENVBEERMBEREARAMIE
BEHDERETE -
Financial
assets at
Available-  fair value ~ Amounts
for-sale through  due from  Deferred
financial profits  investee tax Fairvalue  Retained
assets orloss companies liabilities  reserves profits
RAFER
THHE BEENE ERRE EBERSH AYE
HEEE <HEEE ARFE g8f fE  RERAN
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FiEn FEn FEr FEr FET FiEx
Closing balance as at RZE-\F=R=1—-H
319 March, 2018 - HKFRS 39 MEIREs BB et
A E39% 28,273 104,598 2,737 (1,812) 6,313 36,890
Effect arising from initial BRERBAMBREE
application of HKFRS 9: FORMELRNTE :
Reclassification ENAE:
From available-for-sale HUEHENBEE
financial assets (Note (i) (#()) (28,273) 28,273 - - (6,313) 6,313
Remeasurement BifctE:
Impairment under ECL model BHEEFREATY
(Note (i) B (32 0) - - (@m) - - @)
From cost less impairment to BRAREZRERAAEE
fair value (Note (i) (#0) - 20,803 - (22) - 20,781
Opening balance as at RIZ-N\$¥MA-HZ
1t April, 2018 - HKFRS 9 &R - BB Ll
Fo5 - 153,674 - (1,834) - 61,247




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(continued)
Notes:

(i) From available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets to financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group’s equity
investments of approximately HK$28,273,000 were reclassified
from AFS financial assets to financial assets at FVTPL. The fair
value gains of approximately HK$20,803,000 relating to those
equity investments previously carried at cost less impairment
were adjusted to financial assets at FVTPL and retained profits
as at 1% April, 2018. The fair value gains of approximately
HK$6,313,000 relating to those investments previously carried
at fair value were transferred from fair value reserves to retained
profits. Deferred tax liabilities of approximately HK$22,000 was
charged on the effect of the above fair value changes.

(ii) Impairment under ECL model

Amounts due from investee companies are assessed and
measured on lifetime ECL basis as those credit risk had
increased significantly since initial recognition.

As at 1%t April, 2018, additional credit loss allowance of
approximately HK$2,737,000 has been recognised against
retained profits. The additional loss allowance is charged
against the amounts due from investee companies.
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BEAEHAIHEENBEEEEN S
BEEATFERBERIEZHHE
EE o BT ATAR B R A AR AR E B R
RIRE /A A B2 4920,803,0007%
TERZZ—\EMA—BBAEQ
FERBREIIRZHEEERRS
EA) o ELRIEBIE A TEMNREN
N B 5 18 496,313,000/ T AR
BREF o BIEFIIE B E4£22,000% 7T
BREE AR BEEZSNTE
q:; °

(i) BHEEBREATHRE

YR ERAFERERRBEES
BREENE  ARRSEERREN
SR TE R IA SRR 2 0
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

3. NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle’

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of MaterialP
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business®

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation’
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
(Amendments) between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

HKFRS 16 Leases’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1% January,

2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January,
2020.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January,
2021.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

g Effective for business combination and assets acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1%t January, 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of the
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policy for the first period beginning after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The directors are currently assessing the
impact of the new or amended HKFRSs upon initial application.
So far, the directors have preliminarily concluded that the initial
application of these HKFRSs will not result in material financial
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years

presented.

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation:

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclose provisions of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention except that certain AFS financial assets,
financial assets at FVTPL and other investment are stated
at fair value and on the basis that the Group is a going
concern.

Basis of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31t March, 2019. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the assets to working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance and overhaul cost, is normally charged to
the profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the
use of an item of property, plant and equipment, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of the
asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. The annual rate used for
furniture, fixtures and equipment is 20%.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continuing use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the item
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(e) Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in Note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows: and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates

to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(€)

Financial instruments: (continued)

RE P BHRRMEE
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Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to

12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group

recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant

increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring

since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

(if)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e) Financial instruments: (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS
9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s deposits are each assessed as a
separate group. amounts due from related
parties are assessed for expected credit
losses on an individual basis);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESHTHERE(Z)
(continued)
()  Financial instruments: (continued) () =®MIA: (&)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS

HEBEE(H)
HBEEEZBE (REHZ2ERH
BB B EER|BITFEFIER

9 with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (continued)

HE#)(E)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued) (v) fﬁgﬁ EEREBRGZERE
/J/L/‘ (g)
o Past-due status; . & HIAOR
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and . BHEARME -
RERTE R
o External credit ratings where available. . IhER s BT AR (10

A) -

The grouping is regularly reviewed by DHBRERETE AT

management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 15t April, 2018)

The Group classifies its investments in the following

categories: loans and receivables, financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss and AFS financial assets.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the

investments were acquired. Management determines the

classification of its investments at initial recognition and

re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.
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(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market.
At the end of each reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. Impairment losses are
reversed in subsequent periods when an
increase in the asset's recoverable amount can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a
restriction that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 15 April, 2018)
(continued)

(if)

(iii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

At the end of each reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised directly in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. All
derivatives financial assets are also categorised
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss unless they are designated as hedges.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as any of the
other categories (set out above).

After initial recognition, AFS financial assets
are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the fair value reserve
until the investment is derecognised, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, at which item the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement and removed from the fair value
reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the
variability in the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for that investment or (b)
the probabilities of the various estimates within
the range cannot be reasonably assessed and
used in estimating fair value, such securities are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Annual Report 2019 4 #k

e E|RMEE

HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

4. ERE;

(e)

THREBR (4

ERMIA: (&)
HHBEE (&)
HBEEZ A EREETE (K=
F-\FOR—HEAEENE

HREEREIHFT) ()
(i)  BERFEREBERERIKZ
HHEE

(iii)

RRERER 2 BEHRE
AR BAFERBRRER
DR B EETRAY
Bt E - AFEEPHNE
E%WEEFE 5 AR
c IEITEMHEER
BRIREAFERNBRE
Nk MBEE - BRIz
BEBIEE R -

R ENBEEE
A ENBEEREN
4£18E BB R
Hb SR (AR LX) -
EMLHERE  IHELE
VBEERBNATER
e RERKEHER
RAHEEEEATER
BEABRAEMEZER
w HEBBRERIUH
FERE RS BB R
Wk AR A MK
A R ER LR ER
Zitkas sk BB R A
EEENFEBERTR
BRANER -

I LEMRAEZER 2 AT
BERQGFEERTF
BEZEZEZHHEZ
KBEMm=BEKXNS()EK
EREREBNSATE
Bt 2B ERELEE
G A AR A T EE
MR A St E - B3
FEH IR AER TR
BEEBARS

91



92

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 15t April, 2018)
(continued)

(iv)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

In case of equity securities classified as AFS
financial assets, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the equity securities
below their cost is considered in determining
whether the securities are impaired. Impairment
losses recognised in profit or loss on equity
securities are not reversed through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an AFS financial asset, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the fair
value reserves is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

®)

C))

Financial instruments: (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Equity instruments (continued)

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accruals are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Cash and cash equivalents:

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Foreign currency translation:

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company'’s functional and presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(9)

Foreign currency translation: (continued)

(if)

(iii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group’s entities that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) the resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

Taxation:
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
income statement because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(i)

)]

Taxation: (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or
credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case, the deferred tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Provisions and contingent liabilities:

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition:

(i) Sales of investments in equity securities and
futures including AFS financial assets and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised on a trade date basis when the
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
and title has passed.

(ii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

(iii) Dividend income from equity securities is
recognised when the shareholders’ rights:to
receive payment have been established.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(k)

U]

Operating lease:

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and

rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

classified as operating leases. Payments made under

operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties:

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of a same
third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties: (continued)

U)

(m)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Other investment:

Other investment comprises of investment in silver

bullion. The silver bullion is carried at fair value through

profit or loss.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(n) Segment reporting:

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.

(o) Employees benefits:
Pension obligations

The Group participates a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme by the Group and its employees are calculated
based on a percentage of employees’ relevant income.
The Group’s contributions to the fund are incurred as
expenses and the assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently

administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged as

expenses as they fall due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 5. s e R HE

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are fhar KA e T EETHME  LIRES
based on historical experience and other factors, including FrBkEtRzx(BENERBERLTE
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable EHBREBEZRREHER) EH - K
under the circumstances. The Group did not use any critical SERRENBHRRE L ERABEMAE
accounting estimates in the preparation of the consolidated Bet{Est o

financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, RERAEEGFHEZBIER BE
management has made the following judgments, apart from BE2/ER T HE CFRETMEESES
those involving estimations, which have the most significant MERRERAZTBERNREATEY
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 25 HEBRIN) o

statements.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments eRMIANATERZ

Certain of the Group's financial assets amounting to REEBR-_ZT—NLE=ZRA=1+—H%
approximately HK$29,374,000 as at 31t March, 2019 are 29,374,000 T2 A THBEERZR AT
measured at fair values with fair values being determined based Bt 2 MAFEDRENTERE AR
on unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment FEAMELET EREHEBEBEZER
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant HARE A BREE EED HE MG o
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in B EREFEz2BREE T ENRS
assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported TEVZATE - BREE—PHE  52H
fair values of these instruments. See Note 8(b) for further Hi5E8(b) e

disclosures.

Provision of ECL for amounts due from investee companies/ BWHREAT /BEATREBEZESE
related companies EFERE

The loss allowances for amounts due from investee companies/ FEWIRE N B/ BB A A ZIE 2 BB &
related companies are based on assumptions about risk of BT ER YA E R MTE BB KRR
default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment HoASERBEAEEBEINESL -
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the A1 T 5 BA B 25 3 25 B R B9 B BE 1 (A 5T
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, R EEEL EERREEHRE
existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates SHECRAREBRERAE -BHEE
at the end of each reporting period. The provision of ECL is BENRERS NG EEMTE-
sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL EHAEHEEERUNERIRERR
and amounts due from investee companies/related companies BN B FIE 2 B R T R EE8(b)
are disclosed in Notes 8(b), 19 and 20 respectively. 19 % 20# 5 -

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. AEXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, other reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends and new share issues.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABBREHFRA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
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7. SRIEDHE

EESMIARGENAZ EEENT ;

2019 —E2-NF
Financial assets HKEE
Amortised
cost FVTPL Total
BATLER
B R AR BERYI R Mt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Amounts due from investee companies  JEWIRE A Al FIE 2,588 - 2,588
Amounts due from related companies &Yt B H A A5 IE 1,634 - 1,634
Deposits b 66 - 66
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEREZERIIERZ
B EE - 128,252 128,252
Cash and bank balances B& RBITES 25,713 - 25,713
30,001 128,252 158,253
Financial liabilities Bk aE
Amortised
cost
HK$°000
FET
Accruals EEA 354




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

7.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 7. SRIEDHE(E)
2018 —\F
Financial assets M EE
Financial AFS
assets at Loans and financial
FVTPL receivables assets Total
BAFER
BRI =5 0% AEHE
ZHEEE W R IR B EE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
AFS financial assets AEHENKEE = = 28,273 28,273
Amounts due from e § = WNEIE O
investee companies - 2,737 - 2,737
Amounts due from FE UL BB X R FR A
related companies - 2,328 - 2,328
Deposits b - 66 - 66
Financial assets at FVTPL RAFERERRE
ZHEEE 104,598 - - 104,598
Cash and bank balances R& RRTEH = 10,533 = 10,533
104,598 15,664 28,273 148,535
Financial liabilities g =N
Amortised
cost
BEIHRA
HK$'000
FE T
Accruals ENEA 359

103



104

UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES
(a) Financial risk factors:

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise AFS

financial assets, amounts due from investee companies,

amounts due from related companies, deposits, financial

assets at FVTPL, cash and bank balances and accruals.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk,

interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects

on the Group’s financial performance.

(i)

Equity price risk

The Group are exposed to equity securities which
are classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position either as AFS financial assets or
financial assets at FVTPL. These are susceptible
to equity price risk arising from uncertainties
about the future prices of the instruments. The
Group’s equity price risk is managed through
diversification of the investment portfolio ratios by
exposures.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to
every 1% change in the fair values of the equity
securities or the derivative financial instruments,
with all other variables held constant and before
any impact on tax, based on their carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

e MW
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8. g 3E

EERRRBE(E)

(@)  Financial risk factors: (continued) (@ HBEBREZ: (&)
(i) Equity price risk (continued) (i) REEBER (&)
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease)  (decrease) in Increase/
in fair loss before (decrease)
value taxation in equity

AYEZ  BHABEZ B2
g/ (Hd)  &m/CHP)  &m/0hd)
% HK$'000 HK$'000
B FET FET
2019 “E-NEF
Equity securities investment: RABHRE -
- Financial assets at FVTPL - BRATFERBERE 1 (1,156) 965
iRz BB E (1) 1,156 (965)
2018 —T-N\F
Equity securities investment: BAZBHTE :
— AFS financial assets —AHHENBEE 1 = 283
(1) - (283)
- Financial assets at FVTPL —~BRAEERBREE 1 (1,039) 867
SR MG EE (1) 1,039 (867)
Concentration of equity price risk may arise if the MEREBHEE XS

Group has a significant investment in a single
equity investment. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration
risks in six (2018: five) equity investments which
account for more than 5% of the total assets of
the Group.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (continued)
(i) Equity price risk (continued)

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

8. PREREERRREBER (&)

(a) MBEBREE: (&)

() KEEREE(E)

(if)

% of total assets of the Group
EAEEREECRADL

2019 2018
PCCW Limited BHAMBRAA 17.81% 17.73%
Diamond Motto Limited Diamond Motto Limited 13.76% N/AT 38 A
Yi Hua Holdings Limited REZERER QA 12.54% 19.50%
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited B XRZEBARA A 9.70% 8.74%
Bank of China Limited HERITIRMD B R A A 5.82% N/ATiE
Gemilang International Limited Z B BR A A 5.28% 11.33%
MTR Corporation Limited BHEEKBRAA N/ATEH 5.80%
Credit risk (i) =B G

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which
is the risk that a counterparty will be unable
to pay amounts in full when due. Impairment
provisions are provided for losses that have been
incurred by the end of the reporting period, if
any. The Group is responsible for monitoring
the amount of credit exposure to any financial
institution.

ECL assessment on amount due from investee
companies/related companies

As at initial adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group
provided approximately HK$2,737,000 credit
loss allowance for amounts due from investee
companies to retained profits under general
approach due to default in payment. An
allowance for ECL made to amounts due from
investee companies during the current year was
approximately HK$2,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

For the year ended 31t March, 2019, the Group
invests in both listed and unlisted securities
which are classified as financial assets at FVTPL.
For the year ended 31t March, 2018, the Group
invested in both listed and unlisted securities
which are designated as AFS financial assets
and/or financial assets at FVTPL. Those listed
securities are considered readily realisable as
they are listed in regulated stock exchanges.
Those unlisted securities may not be traded in an
organised public market and may be illiquid. As
a result, the Group may not be able to liquidate
quickly its investments in these instruments at
an amount close to their fair value in order to
meet its liquidity requirements or to respond
to specific events such as deterioration in the
creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for their financial liabilities.
For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of the financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.
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108 UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BBBREHR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RE IR RMEE

For the year ended 31% March, 2019 HE_Z-NF=A=t+—HILFE
8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 8. MERBREREERBE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
(a)  Financial risk factors: (continued) (a) BIBERREE: (&)
(i) Liquidity risk (continued) (i) REBELER (E)
Less than 1to3 3 months Carrying
1 month months to 1 year amount
L8R 123 3EAZE1E REE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT W W FAT

2019 —E-NF
Non-derivative FTEFHRERE

financial liabilities

Accruals 2R 5 - 349 354
2018 —E-N\F
Non-derivative FITENBEE

financial liabilities

Accruals 2R 5 = 354 359




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors: (continued)

(iv)

Interest rate risk

The Group has no interest-bearing financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period. The
Group only exposes to changes in interest rates
to their interest-bearing short-term bank fixed
deposits.

Due to the fact that the changes in interest rates
would have no material impact on the results
of the Group and accordingly, the sensitivity
analysis in respect of changes in interest rate is
not presented.

(b) Fair values:

(i)

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for
determining and disclosing the fair value of
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8. PREREERRRBR (&)

(@) MBEBEE:(£)

(iv)  FIEE R

RS - AEELE
HBRE FRES A
EEETHHERHY S
REMRTEBER L

B o
JioN

FEL - ARFENEL
TRHAEEEEALE
MR - AR Rt
RS TR 2 21 -

(i) AFEFR
AR E e AT E A F AUA
HEMKESRIAND

financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair values measured based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

fair values measured based on
valuation techniques for which all
inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

fair values measured based on
valuation techniques for which all
inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are not
based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

o

5-B: ATEHERES
ERRTISRRR
ES AR (K
A2 8E

$-F:  ATEHERRS
I - AR
EEABERAR
BEAVENRY
FABEHLTE
8

FZE: ATEAERRE
BERIT ERE
ERSRRBAMR
BEAT BN
AT REBEED
BUE(TIRE
& A)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

RE P BHRRMEE

BE_Z-NF=H=+t—HLFE

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 8. FEEREEEERBEK (&)
POLICIES (continued)
(b)  Fair values: (continued) (b) AFE:(E)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) RFEZER(E)
As at 31t March, 2019 and 2018, the Group held HE_ZE—hhER_Z
the following financial instruments measured at —NF=A=+—H &
fair value: SEEEUATRATER
EMEmIA:
2019 “E-hEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ FE F=E ‘st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FAET
Financial assets HEE
- Financial assets at —ERAFERNERER
FVTPL SRR IS B E 98,878 - 29,374 128,252
2018 —E-N\F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E = E=E FoE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets HBEE
- AFS financial assets ~ — AN EHKEE 19,327 = = 19,327
- Financial assets at -~ BAFERERE
FVTPL NEEZ B EE 104,598 = = 104,598
123,925 - - 123,925

Unlisted convertible debt securities as at 31¢
March, 2019 is stated at its fair value, which
is determined by reference to the valuation in
accordance with generally accepted valuation
methodologies.

FLEMARBESFR=F
—NE=ZRA=+—HER
FEIE  H2ERLR
BEEFHZMEEMS
4 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(b) Fair values: (continued)
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8. PEEREEREREERGE)

(b) AFE:(£E)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i) AFEER(E)
The valuation techniques and inputs used in FE=BAVLEAEMAZ
the fair value measurements within Level 3 is as HEERBABELT
follows:
Fair value Fair value  Valuation Significant
2019 2018 technique unobservable inputs
NYE NTE  fEEE EXTABRBAR
“E-NE —T)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THAT
Financial assets at FVTPL
RATERERERIIR 2 HBERE
- Unlisted equity investments 16,774 - Market Discount of lack of marketability
—-FEmRATA approach (“DLOM’): 31%
(Note i) Enterprise value-to-eamngings
[EA before interest, taxes, depreciation
(3 and amortisation
(“EV/EBITDA"): 5.98x
Price-to-earnings (“P/E") multiples:
17.60x
Enterprise values-to-sales (“EV/S")
multiples: 1.35x
W2 @M E TR (IDLOMI) < 31%
PEEEHRME  HE HENEH
AT ([EV/EBITDA]) (5% : 5.98f%
TEH AT ([PE])EE : 17.60%
PEEELHEE ([EV/S)) 58 : 1.35(5
Binomial model Risk-free interest rate: 1.42%
(Note ii) R ANE - 1.42%
ZHEARR Volatility: 48%
(Bt i) KR < 48%
- Unlisted convertible debt 12,600 - Binomial model Stock price (per share): HK$1.18
securities (Note fii) BB (FR) - 1185 T
—FEmaRRESE S “HEARR

(Wi &EiiD)
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Fair values: (continued)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Notes:

(i) An increase in the DLOM used in isolation
would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity investments
and vice versa. A 10% increase or decrease in
the DLOM, holding all other variables constant,
would decrease or increase the fair value of the
unlisted equity investments by approximately
HK$1,158,000 and HK$1,158,000, respectively
(2018: Nil).

An increase in the EV/EBITDA multiples used
in isolation would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investments and vice versa. A 10% increase
or decrease in the EV/EBITDA multiples, holding
all other variables constant, would increase or
decrease the fair value of the unlisted equity
investments by approximately HK$400,000 and
HK$400,000, respectively (2018: Nil).

An increase in the P/E multiples used in
isolation would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investments and vice versa. A 10% increase
or decrease in the P/E multiples, holding all
other variables constant, would increase or
decrease the fair value of the unlisted equity
investments by approximately HK$225,000 and
HK$225,000, respectively (2018: Nil).

An increase in the EV/S multiples used in
isolation would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investments and vice versa. A 10% increase
or decrease in the EV/S multiples, holding all
other variables constant, would increase or
decrease the fiar value of the unlisted equity
investments by approximately HK$291,000 and
HK$291,000 (2018: Nil).

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

8.

R

(b)

st
rdS

ARE: (8)

(i)

BEEEREEK(E)

RFEER(E)

Hiet -

) 8% i 3 MDLOM
BN EHELD
BAREHDFE

SFERD RZIK
R - EDLOMIE 1
8 2 10%1m Fr A
HhBHRFLE
ZIER LR
AEERHRFESH
Vol bR Bl E)
1,158,000/ T &
1,158,000 7T (=
T-N\F &) -

BB L HBEV/
EBITDAfS &% in
B EWRAK
BN FEFEHE
M RZIEA &
EV/EBITDAfS 12
203 B A 10% M A
BEMEHRED
goER kLT
BAZEN A FE
1 5 Bl 38 on sk >
#400,0005% T &
400,000/ 7T (=&
—N\E &) -

B8 B KP/ER
SIS E R
MRAZERN AT
BFEEN R2
IR SR ° FEP/EfS #iE
0=k R 2 10% i B
EHEMEHRED
g2ER kLW
BRAKEENAFE
#5525l 38 0 sk R A
#4)225,000% T &
225,000 L (=&
—\F )

298 1 3R MEV/SEE
M EBIE L
MRAKZERN AT
BEtE®M R2Z
MR © FEEV/STE &
300k R A 10% M
B A £t & SR
TEZEBR EE
MRARERAF
18 #5 5 Bl 48 50 3% 5
H#3291,000/8 7T K
291,000 T (= F
—\F ) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Fair values: (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(b)

(i)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iif)

An increase in the risk-free interest rate used
in isolation would result in a decrease in the
fair value measurement of the unlisted equity
investments and vice versa. A 10% increase or
decrease in the risk-free interest rate, holding
all other variables constant, would decrease
or increase the fair value of the unlisted equity
investments by approximately HK$12,000 or
HK$12,000, respectively (2018: Nil).

An increase in the volatility used in isolation
would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity investments
and vice versa. A 10% increase or decrease
in the volatility, holding all other variables
constant, would increase or decrease the
fair value of the unlisted equity investments
by approximately HK$2,000 and HK$Nil,
respectively (2018: Nil).

An increase in the stock price used in isolation
would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted convertible debt
securities and vice versa. A 10% increase or
decrease in the stock price, holding all other
variables constant, would increase or decrease
the fair value of the unlisted convertible debt
securities by approximately HK$1,200,000 and
HK$1,200,000 (2018: Nil)
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8.

g 3E

(b)

A fe
oS

BRERBE (E)

AFE: (8)

(i)

RAFEER(E)

Mt - (&)

(i)

(iii)

EBHRMER
B A = 32 o0 g
RELTHRAR
EMATEFE
WL RZTA -
4 [ e ) 3R 3 00
F B P 10%1M A
H o BB AR 5 T &
ZBR - LR
ARENAFE
# 2 Bl B > 3k 18
M #712,0007% 7T &
12,0008 T (=&
—NEE) -

B8 3R R IR 0
M EHELT
BARE R F
EFFEEN Rz
AR < 72 )% 1R 42 0
8 4 10% 1 BT B
H it & B RFDE
2R LMK
ARENRFER
75 B 38 A0 3R 4 4
2,000 TR EE T
(ZB-N\F: )

B R A A (B 18
M EEIE £ A
BIREHEFNQ
FEAEEN R
Z IR o FE R B
ISR 4 10% 1 P
A E M &8 RE D
BfER LW
AR ERE 5
DA D BIE
R 2 491,200,000
7 7T & 1,200,0007%
T(ZE—-N\%F:
&) o
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABBREHFRA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 8.

POLICIES (continued)

(b) Fair values: (continued)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

RE P BHRRMEE

BE_Z-NF=H=+t—HLFE

(b)

There were no changes in valuation techniques

during the year.

During the years ended 31t March, 2019
and 2018, there were no transfer of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and

no transfer into or out of Level 3.

The following table presents the changes in Level

3 instruments for the year ended 31t March,

2019.

PREREERRREBER (&)

DFE: (&)

(i)

AFEER(E)
FRBEELEEZS -

BHEZZT-—NFR=FT
—NE=ZA=1+—BIt%F
B AT EBEHEREE
BEEF-EHE-ENLR
EARBERE=E -

TRERE=ZEIENE
E_ZT-hAF=ZA=1—
BILEE &8 -

Financial
assets at
FVTPL
BAFERE
=RIERZ
BKkERE
HK$'000
T
As at 31 March, 2018 RZE-N\F=HA=1t—H -
Reclassification ENMNE
From AFS financial assets BRIt HERBEE 8,946
Remeasurement ER k]
From cost less impairment to BEKAREREZAFE
fair value 20,803
As at 1% April, 2018 (Restated) HRZ=ZT—N\FHEA—H(KE7) 29,749
Purchases BE 12,000
Net gains/(losses): FlE (B8R)
—in profit or loss —RNEEE (12,375)
As at 31t March, 2019 RZZE-NF=A=+—H 29,374




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)
(b) Fair values: (continued)

(if)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other
financial instruments carried at amortised cost are
approximately their fair values as at 31t March,
2019 and 2018.
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8. PEEREEREREERGE)

(b) 2FE: (£
(i)  BRAFEUIEESEZ
HHETRAZLFE
RZB-NFRZZE-N
F=A=+—A0 &~5H
TR S5 PR A5 BR 2 L b B
BIAZEESEEAD

TFEBEL -
9. REVENUE 9. WA
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Dividend income from: B EMWARE :

- Listed equity investments (Note 26) - ETRAE S (fi:226) 3,864 4,333
— Unlisted equity investments (Note 26) - EEMRABE S (A 226) 1,667 1,667
5,531 6,000

No analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to operating

profit for the current and prior years set out by principal activities

and geographical markets is provided as the Group has only

one single business segment, investment holding and all the

consolidated revenue and the consolidated results of the Group

are attributable to performance of the markets in Hong Kong.

No information about major customers has been disclosed as

a substantial portion of the Group’s income is derived from the

Group’s investments and the disclosure of information regarding

customers would not be meaningful.

ARNASERBEREZEBRE X5 - WA
EASEMAGERARGEEE R
REEMS AT EREBEIRZEBKR
wEmG 2HIAKEREFREREFE
PR ONSE S b R

ARAKEZ EEREB/BARNDKAR
BO% MAREREIERFPHOERE
HRELRBEIREFENLERES
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABBREHFRA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REMBmRM T

For the year ended 31 March, 2019 HE-ZT-NF=A=1+—HILFE
10. NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 10. BAFEREBRRIECHEEE L

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The following is the analysis of net loss on investments of
the Group for the years ended 31t March, 2019 and 2018.
The amounts of realised gain/(loss) represent the fair value
difference between the beginning of the year or purchase date in
the year and the disposal date of financial instruments while the
amounts of unrealised gain/(loss) represent the change of the
fair value during the year of financials instruments held by the
Group as at the year-end:

BRFE
ATRAEEBZE T2 NF=A=1+—
AR—Z-N\F=ZA=1t—HILFEH
REFERIN - EBRKE (BR)
EREFNIRFARERLESRT
BHHZEAMAFEER MAZHEEK
#/(BR) EREARERFRIFEHN
ETRTAFEAFENLZE:

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at RAFERER R 285
FVTPL: BEZ W/ (FE)FHE
Listed equity investments FHRARES
- Realised (Note 26) - B3 (#15#26) (131) 3,178
— Unrealised (Note 26) - R (fi:726) (11,977) (23,367)
Unlisted equity investments I ETRATE 5
— Unrealised (Note 26) - REH (fi726) (19,975) =
Unlisted convertible debt securities JE LA E R E S
— Unrealised (Note 26) - R (fi:726) 7,600 =
Derivative financial instruments MTESRIA - (77)
(24,483) (20,266)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

11. OTHER REVENUE

Annual Report 2019 4 #i
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HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

1. HfslA

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other revenue H e A
Bank interest income RITHE WA 9 =
Other income H iz 238 334
247 334
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. SN
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on other borrowings wholly H i R5E N EE B
repayable within five years F B H 57 107
13. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 13. BR Al B 18
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging: BEAIEEE R Ty &E
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Auditors’ remuneration ZER 2 252 268
Depreciation of property, plant W RERZERE
and equipment 1 2
Investment management fee paid to INTHERRZCKEEEER
a related company (Note 28) (B1at28) 2,243 2,446
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration), & LR A& (BEEEHE) -
including defined contributions of BEEIRBERTEREHRR
approximately HK$24,000 #124,0008 T (ZE— N\ :
(2018: HK$24,000) to MPF Scheme 24,0005 7T) 935 914
Minimum lease payments on properties BECEHETRAME L FEEN
under operating leases itk 264 264
Allowance for expected credit loss on MR & A RIFER B SEEEE
amounts due from investee companies B 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

14.

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 14. EERSHREEENS
EMOLUMENTS
(a)  The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the (a) ARAEZFREE_ZT-—NER
years ended 315 March, 2019 and 2018 are as follows: T N\FZRA=1+—HItFE
ZHeHMT
Basic
salaries, housing
benefits, other Discretionary
allowances Retirement  bonuses and/or
and benefits benefits performance-
Fees in+kind contributions  related bonuses Total
24§45
RERA) o )
‘ 22y BAEH  BERAR/ .
(k3 RENAE i3 gENA @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
+En Fér FEr B &7
For the year ended HE-Z-nE£=R
31 March, 2019 =t+-HLEE
Executive directors: YrEs:
WONG Yun Kuen EHE 30 - 3 50 83
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew 128 30 - 3 50 83
Independent BUFHTES:
non-executive
directors:
CHAN Chung Yee, Al BERd% 30 - - 50 80
FUNG Lewis Hung i 30 - - 50 80
TANG Hon Bui, Ronald ~~ H0EE 30 - - 50 80
150 - 6 250 406
For the year ended HEZ-T-)\E=H
31 March, 2018 ST-HLFE
Executive directors: H11E%:
WONG Yun Kuen SRk 30 - 3 50 83
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew B2 30 - 3 50 83
Independent BuFiiEs
non-executive
directors:
CHAN Chung Yee, Alan R 30 - - 50 80
FUNG Lewis Hung B 30 - - 50 80
TANG Hon Bui, Ronald ~~ ¥22 30 - - 50 80
150 - 6 250 406

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2018: HKS$Nil).

During the years ended 31st March, 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss for office.

AFERYEEECMERFEN
ZEAME (ZT—NF: &) -

HE_Z—NAF=A=+—H8BK
—E-NFE=ZA=F+—HIHF
B AEBYRAMEEZSHEM
B - 155 5|15 5 0 &8 sk 1 B2
REER 2 RESEABEME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

14. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Four (2018: Four) of the five highest paid individuals
were directors of the Company, whose emoluments are
included in Note 14(a).

Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
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14.

EEREREEEME (B)

(b)

IERSFMALR WL (ZF
—N\F:EE)BRERAES |
EZMECHRME14(a)

IaEERFMAL (FTBEARRF

(excluding directors of the Company) are: EZ)2MeFE
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Basic salaries EARE 511 490
Retirement benefits contributions RIRE R HEIR 18 18
529 508

During the years ended 31 March, 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss for office.

Analysis of the emoluments of five highest paid
individuals (excluding directors of the Company) by
number of individuals and emolument ranges is as
follows:

BE_Z-NE=A=+—-8Hk

“E-NE=ZA=F+—-HLF
B AEEYRARLRS HH
AL ERMME - ERESIHR
EMBRMBARREIR 2 REY K
fERBEREE -

TaERFMAL (TBEARRF
EX)RABLMEBED TS
mE

2019 2018

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

15.

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 15. FiBH(EKR) HX
(a)  Tax (credit)/expense in the consolidated statement of (@ HEBERZHMER(ER) H
comprehensive income represents: T
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax REFEHRIE - =
Deferred tax (credit)/expense EEME(ER) /FX
(Note 23) (Ktit23) (1,154) 1,812
(1,154) 1,812

On 21t March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill
2017 (the “BIll”) which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28"
March, 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax had been made
as the Group sustained a tax loss for the years ended
31st March, 2019 and 2018.

R—_ZE—N\EFZA=+—-HB &
FERR(CCE—LFHB
21) (BB 7%%) 1B E ) ([ 1&f1
5| AR5 B M AR o {6
RRZE-NF=ZA=+N
BEEEER URBREAE
BR-BEBEMNEHMAR &
EREEEEEIR8.25%M T =X
3% 7 &2,000,0007% JT 41 4 &
T I IR16.5%M B R LR iR
2,000,000 7T #) i 7 S AN A 18
THREFESHMAHERNEE
BRGNS EEIZ16.5% 2
—ERBNTIE

bz
Al

o

FoRE T

W

2

—
Ny

on

+
H

o

=
v

ARAKEEHE_T-NFR-
Z-N\FEZA=+-HLEFER
BEREBR AT ENEB
MSBAEL A E# A -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

15.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

(b)
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15. FEH(ER) BX(#E)

Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and (b) FEHHER), / AXELEEZ
the Group’s accounting loss at the statutory income tax CHEBREETMEMERTE L
rate is set out below: R
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Loss before taxation BB AT B 1R (24,436) (19,680)
Tax at the statutory income tax rate of PAOETE A5 %16.5%
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (ZZ—\F :16.5%)
AEZHE (4,032) (3,247)
Tax effect of profit not subject to taxation BERFGFH 2 REFE (2,518) (2,163)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses RAHBRASY 2 BT E 4,375 4,747
Tax effect on unrecognised AEREREB NG
temporary differences %4 79 =
Tax effect of unused tax losses not AERZAERRIBER
recognised ZRBTE 2,175 1,283
(Overprovision)/underprovision of B =By (BEEE)
temporary difference BEIRE (1,233) 1,192
Income tax (credit)/expense s (Ee) Ax (1,154) 1,812
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BABBREHFRA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

16.

17.

LOSS PER SHARE

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

16.

The basic loss per share is based on the Group’s loss

attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$23,282,000 (2018: HK$21,492,000) and 1,110,298,742
(2018: 1,059,778,200) weighted average number of shares for
the purpose of basic loss per ordinary share for the years ended

31t March, 2019 and 2018.

Basic loss per share is the same as diluted loss per share as

the Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares for both

years.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17.

BREE
HE-_T-—NF=A=+—-HE=ZE—N
FZR=T—HUEFENSRERER
ThiR ¥ F RN D B B R B AG A B 5 18
F B 423,282,000 L (ZF — \F ¢
21,492,000 7T) RN E BT 2%
BARET & N T 201,110,298, 7428%
(ZF— )\ : 1,059,778,2008%) °

BRESEREASREEBEEARRAN
AREMFLELBERBENE LR
BFHk -

M~ B RRE
Furniture,
fixtures and

equipment
RE - REREE
HK$'000
FHET
Cost B AR
As at 1¢' April, 2017 and 31¢ March, 2018 RZE—tFMOA—HK
—E-N\F=ZA=+—H 83
Written-off ik (77)
As at 31¢t March, 2019 RZE-AFE=ZA=1—H 6
Accumulated depreciation 2RIE
As at 1% April, 2017 RZZE—tFMA—H 80
Charge for the year REFFR 2
As at 31 March, 2018 RZE-N\F=ZA=1—H 82
Charge for the year REEZMHE 1
Written-off Hif 5 (77)
As at 31 March, 2019 RZZE-hF=A=+—H 6
Carrying amounts REE

At 315t March, 2019

At 318t March, 2018

R-_ZE—AF=BA=+—H _

R—E-—NE=A=+—H 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS/FINANCIAL 18.

AL ENBEE RATFERESR

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS RYIRzHEEE
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(a)  Available-for-sale financial (a) AIEHE
assets (Note i): MISEE (M eti)
Unlisted equity securities, EETHRAES
at cost (Note ii) BACNME (M i) - 17,580
Less: provision for impairment W REEERE
loss (Note iii) (K &tiii) - (8,634)
- 8,946
Listed equity securities B LEMRAZES
in Hong Kong (Note iv) (Bt etiv) - 19,327
- 28,273
Market value of listed equity BEELEMRABS2TE
securities in Hong Kong - 19,327
(b)  Financial assets at fair (b) HEAFERERRYIE
value through profit or loss: LHBEE
Listed equity securities B LMRAES
in Hong Kong (Note v) (Hfitv) 98,878 103,857
Unlisted equity securities (Note vi) FEETRAB S (M atvi) 16,774 =
Derivative instruments fTETE - 74
Unlisted convertible debt FEMARRERKE S
securities (Note vii) (Kt &tvii) 12,600 -
128,252 104,598
Market value of listed equity BEELETRABS 2
securities in Hong Kong miE 98,878 103,857
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS/FINANCIAL
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

Notes:

(i) As at initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1t April, 2018, AFS
financial assets at approximately HK$28,273,000 was
reclassified to financial assets at FVTPL with fair value gain of an
amount at approximately HK$20,803,000 was recognised to the
retained profits.

(ii) As at 315t March, 2018, all AFS financial assets are stated at fair
value except for those unlisted equity securities, of which their
fair values cannot be measured reliably.

(iii) During the year ended 315 March, 2018, no impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss.

(iv) Fair values of listed equity securities have been determined by
reference to published price quotations in active markets.

(v) The fair value of the listed equity securities (excluded
suspended trading securities) are determined based on the
quoted market closing price available on the Stock Exchange at
the end of the reporting period.

(vi) The fair values of unlisted equity securities were arrived on
the basis of valuation carried out by a firm of independent
professional valuers. The fair value of the unlisted equity
securities was valued by using market approach or asset-based
approach.

(vii) JBB Builders International Limited (“JBBI”) is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and is principally engaged in engineering
contractor business in Malaysia. JBB is immediate and
ultimate holding company of JBBI. JBB is a private company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands and is principally engaged
in business of investment holding.

The Group entered into the subscription agreement with JBB on
14" May, 2018 pursuant to which the Group agreed to subscribe
for unlisted convertible bond with zero coupon rate issued by
JBB with a principal amount of HK$5,000,000 due on 14" May,
2019. The Group shall have right to convert or exchange the
entire outstanding principal of the bond into shares of JBBI at
any time during the period from the issue date up to 14" May,
2019 or up to the issue of official listing approval from the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong to JBBI.

JBBI is listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on 10" May, 2019 and the IPO price is HK$1.18.

RE P BHRRMEE

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

18.

AHHENBEE RATFERESR
RIRZUMBERE (&)

Wit -

(i) BER-T—\ENA—BHXER
EEMBRELEAFN  AIELE
Bt % & E#928,273,000/8 TE EFH 5
BERAFERBRERIEHIEE
& HAFEW 420,803,000/ 7T
ERRARBEF -

(ii) BE-_ZT-\F=F=1+—H Kkx
BRI ST E AT EZELTRAES
Oh BT AME L EHEEETEAT
Bk -

(iif) BE-Z-N\F=ZA=+—-HIF
B I ENREERAERS -

(iv) FHBRAEZESE 2 D FETRRE LR
MERZETHBREETE

(v) IR AESR (TREALEFEEES)
82 FE TR IRS BREE A2 PT A9
BRTEEE -

(i)  FLETRAZEFOAFEIREEY
EXGHEMARIMETNBENE
iE o EETRAEFN A FETIRA
MISEREERRE -

(vii) JBB Builders International Limited
([JBBI) RASEERMKYL - FX
TERENEETRATRRETIER
B ¥R ° JBBRJIBBIZ Bk K& 4R
ERRE - JBBR—HEFLARE R
RERAHENL  FEERELER
E/ )

AEFERIBBR-_Z—N\FRA+MO
BRIV REHZ Bt 25BRE
RIEIBBFTE TN 4% 45,000,000
BEIZ-_Z—NFEAAT+HATH
TS EMABKRES - AEEF
BRAZETEHRE-_E—NERA
+HAL  KEEEBEEXBAIE
A AEIBBI TR © AIBERF S E S
FZRRRTELASELARREA
JBBIZ 15 °

MBBIER-ZF—NERATHER
BMARZMERLED @ BREBE
R1I8ET -
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19.

20.

21.
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AMOUNTS DUE FROM INVESTEE COMPANIES 19. FE W3R E A B 7 E
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts due from investee companies JE W% & N ) A 12,386 9,796
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (9,798) (7,059)
2,588 2,737
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed EWEE AR RBIDEEER  BEF
terms of repayment. BRREEEENE -
Details of ECL assessment are set out in Note 8(a). TBEE BB ERE 2 FEENHFS(a)
AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES 20. FEUrRaEE A R FRIE
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed FEUWHIETDSEIRA  RENERKE
terms of repayment. FETE BN
OTHER INVESTMENT 21. Hiik &
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Silver bullion =i 680 =

The silver bullion is carried at fair value through profit or loss at
the end of reporting period.

The fair value of the silver bullion is determined based on the
market closing price at the end of the reporting period.

BRRBEARE A FERBRRIR -

BRZ D FEDRERE B RO TSR
MREETE °
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

RE P BHRRMEE

BE_Z-NF=H=+t—HLFE

22. BRERBTHER

2019 2018

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances W& MIRTTE 9,704 10,533
Time deposit EHfF R 16,009 =
25,713 10,533

Cash and bank balances of the Group comprised bank
balances, cash and time deposit with an original maturity of one
month held by the Group.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates and time deposit with interest at fixed rate of 1.3%
per annum. The bank balances and time deposit are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

All of the Group’s cash and bank balances denominated in HKS.

AKENRERRITEREEASE R
BMBRTHES RERERER (RS

AA—f@A) -

ROARSHEREARTERAEM T
BRI B B IR F1.5% 2 B
ERELH 8 - BABBREDERER
3 B VE £ TS BAGHBT -

ASEMARE MBTHERBIANE TS

18 e
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities

Annual Report 2019 4 #k 127

e E|RMEE

HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

23. EEBIE
(@ ELHBEER
Unrealised gain
on financial
assets at FVTPL
BAFERERERZ

BBEEZ

KRB W

HK$'000

FET

Aa at 15t April, 2017 R-ZE—+tFMNA—H =

Charged to profit or loss SRR ERE 1,812
As at 31t March, 2018 and RZEBE-NF=A=1+—-HBkK

1st April, 2018 —E-\FmA—H 1,812

Adoption of HKFRS 9 (Note 2) BB B BRELERNES (H72) 22

As at 15t April, 2018 (Restated) RZZE—NFRA—B(EE7) 1,834

Credited to profit or loss STARBZER (1,154)

As at 315 March, 2019 R—ZE-NF=ZA=+—H 680

Deferred tax assets not recognised
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the following items:

(b) REIZELEBEEE
ATIEEARERZELHIEE
B

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FHET

Accumulated depreciation allowances ~ ZBETERFE - 1
Tax losses HIEEE 13,182 7,111
13,182 7,112

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
estimated tax losses of approximately HK$56,278,000
(2018: HK$43,096,000) available for offsetting against
future taxable profits. However, no deferred tax asset has
been recognised due to unpredictability profit streams.
The tax of future losses and other deductible temporary
difference do not expire under current tax legislation.

REEHR - AEE B A K H
RIRERTE R 2 KRB B AFTL
1A 5 18 4956,278,0008 7T (= &
— J\%F : 43,096,000/8 7T) ° A
i B R A TE IR 2K 2 3 7l 2R
D I 3 L = R A U
PMEEE - BERTHE HIE
EBERAMHEREZETS R -
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, RB{R
The movements of shares capital of the Company are as follows: RARIRANEENE T 0T -
Number Nominal value
of ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
EERHE EEREE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EE
As at 1¢t April, 2017, 31st March, 2018 and RZE—+FMA—QH -
31 March, 2019, at HK$0.01 each —E-N\F=A=t—-Bk
—E-NF=A=1+—8"
BREE0.01HB T 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE
As at 1st April, 2017 and 31¢t March, 2018 RZE—tFMA—AK
—E-N\E=A=+—H 1,059,778,200 10,598
Placing of new shares (Note (a)) B &A% (Mfit(a) 211,954,000 2,119
As at 31t March, 2019 RZE-NF=A=1+—H 1,271,732,200 12,717
Note: Wt
(a) On 4" January, 2019, the Company placed 211,954,000 placing (a) NRZE—NLF—ANH KXAAEK
shares at the placing price of HK$0.082 per placing share. REBFREERKH0.0828 LA
The net proceeds arising from the placing were approximately 211,954,000 L& I 17 - R EFTZ
HK$16,772,000. A share premium of approximately FIB R EA) 516,772,000 7T ° D
HK$15,261,000 had been credited to share premium B #15,261,00058 T 2 51 AR D 4%
account. Details of the placing were set out in the Company’s B REZHBINAARBHA
announcements dated 12" December, 2018 and 4" January, —E-N\E+-A+-BR-ZT—Ah

2019.

F-AMBAZAE
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25.

26.

e
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NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 25. BEREEFE
The calculation of net asset value per share is based on KEEFEDNERBEEEFEY
the net assets of the Group amounted to approximately 157,899,000 T (Z & — )\ F :
HK$157,899,000 (2018: HK$146,365,000) and 1,271,732,200 146,365,000 7T) KR —ZE—NLF=H
(2018: 1,059,778,200) ordinary shares in issue as at 31t March, =+—BARIEZEITERERI,271,732,200
2019. & (ZF— )\ : 1,059,778,2008%) 5T & °
PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY 26. AEBEREZTEREZHE
THE GROUP
Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31t March, BEEFMHRUENEFREZAERR
2019 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are —E-hhE=R=1t—HEF2KEF
as follows: BT
Fair values of
listed/unlisted
equity Dividend
Proportion of securities/ Realised Unrealised  received
investee's unlisted Disposal  gain/(loss) gainf(loss)  during Net assets
capital convertible debt Disposal costof  fortheyear  fortheyear  theyear attributable to
Name of investee companies owned Cost securities  consideration  investment (Note 10) (Note 10) ~ (Note 9) the investment
L/
#52 FEnRAES FERER  EERER £
RELNT AVE/ kLT ke biE/(BB) hE/(BB) BhRE RER
RENTIER BALA AR TRRERES HERE  REHA () (Wiit0)  (#9) HEERE
HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS§'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT FET AT
Listed equity investments
LTRARE
CK Hutchision Holdings Limited 0.0010% 4,063 3,298 - - - (458) 17 5,908
RINCERARAR
PCCW Limited 0.0751% 42708 28,305 - - - 1972 1,735 14,726
ERANERAA
HKC International Holdings Limited 1.2623% 1630 1729 - - - (645) 3 3,848
BRRHERERERAA
China Merchants Land Limited 0.0308% 8,490 1,978 - - - (513) 150 8,572
RERERARAH
Yi Hua Holdings Limited 2.6495% 14971 19,934 2,681 (2.39) 29 (6,645) - 4,921
HERRERAT
Kinjiang Xinxin Mining Indlustry
Co., Ltd. 0.0011% 14,359 1,136 - - - (528) - 544
HENERERNERAT
Bank of China Limited 01176% 10,684 9,256 783 (822) (69) (1,407) 492 2373

RERTHRAERAT
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26. PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY 26. AEERBAECZTERBIHE(£)
THE GROUP (continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31t March, BELFTHRUENEHEZAERR
2019 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are —E-NEFZA=Z+—HEAEZEREF
as follows: (continued) BT : (&)
Fair values of
listed/unlisted
equity Dividend
Proportion of securities/ Realised Unrealised  received
investee’s unlisted Disposal ~ gain/(loss) gain/(loss)  during Net assets
capital convertible debt Disposal costof  fortheyear  fortheyear  theyear attributable to
Name of investee companies owned Cost securities  consideration  investment (Note 10) (Note 10) ~ (Note 9) the investment
i/
#52 FLakaEs EEERR  EEAER £
RELT ZATR/ELT hE  bE/(FB) WE/(BB) BURE REE
RENAEHE EALH BA TERERES HERE  REHA (Wit1) (Witto) (W) hEERE
HK§1000 HK§000 HK§000 HK$ 000 HK§000 HK$000  HK$ 1000 HK§000
TR FAT TR FAT FAT FAT AT AT
Listed equity investments (Continued)
LTRARE(8)
Gemilang International Limited 0.0016% 4,154 8,385 2,726 (3372) (646) (5,079) 174 2
ZIRRBRERAF
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 4.5065% 8,473 15,409 - - - 2,433 369 5199
BrisEERAR
Other listed equity investments 2% (1,107) 797
Hip FfrARE
(131) (11,977) 3,864
Unlisted equity investments
FLRARE
Diamond Motto Limited 160% 11,667 11,546 - - - (20,706) 1,667 2,179
Guongdong Jingyeng Aquaculture
Company Limited (formerly known as
Guangzhou Jingyeng Aquaculture
Company Limited) } 16.67% 4220 5228 - - - 790 - 3,646
RReFHERRARAT (3 - BA
e kEREERAR)
Other unlisted equity investments = (59) =
ibg FRARE
- (19,975) 1,667
Unlisted convertible debt securities
F LR ERZH
JBB Builders Investment Limited 5,000 12,600 - - - 7,600 -
" - v -"_ iyt » >
lige EE"-‘J*
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26.

PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY

THE GROUP (continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March,
2018 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are
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26. FEEREZIEREZHEB A

BELTRAEANEREZAEER
—E-N\F=-A=t-HRBZREH

as follows: BT :
Dividend
Proportion of Fair values of Realised  Unrealised  received
investee’s listed/unlisted Disposal gain/(loss)  gainf(loss)  during Net assets
capital equity Disposal costof fortheyear  fortheyear theyear attributable to
Name of investee companies owned Cost securities  consideration  investment (Note 10) (Note 10) ~ (Note 9)  the investment
1P i/ EERER  EEAER ER
RELNAE FLahaEs HE WE/(F8) W8/ (BB CURE REE
RELNRER ALl R PANE HERE  RERE  (Fan) (Wit1o) (i) hEERE
HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET T TET TEr  TET TET
Listed equity investments
LTRARE
CK Hutchision Holdings Limited 0.0010% 4,063 3,756 3,131 (2,884) 247 (200) 149 6,134
RINZEXERAA
PCCW Limited 00751% 42,708 26,333 - - - (19%) 1657 16,447
ENANERAR
MTR Corporation Limited 0.0034% 9,228 8,609 9,849 (9,770) 79 (619) - 5,651
BEERERAT
Yi Hua Holdings Limited 28079% 14,971 28,970 - - - (28,101) 1,440 9,089
HEBRERAT
Gemilang International Limited 2.3951% 4154 16,830 = 921 = 3,480
ZRARERAT
Kwong Man Kee Group Limited 4.5055% 8473 12,946 - - - (736) - 5,497
BIREEERAR
A Plus Group Holdings Limited 0.8250% 1,000 2,508 - - - 18 - 998
EEKEERERAR
Chi Ho Development Holdings
Limited 0.2588% 620 2,981 5,125 (3,081) 2,044 2,339 - 29

ERERERBRAA
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26.

PARTICULARS OF SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY
THE GROUP (continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Group as at 31 March,
2018 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are
as follows: (continued)

RE P BHRRMEE
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26. FAEERBEZIEREZFHEBHE)

BEITRIENEHEZ NEF R
TE-NFE=A=t-HAEFREH
BT : (&)

Dividend
Proportion of Fair values of Realised  Unrealised  received
investee’s listed/unlisted Disposal gain/(loss) ~ gainf(loss) during Net assets
capital equity Disposal costof fortheyear  fortheyear theyear attributable to
Name of investee companies owned Cost securities  consideration investment (Note 10) (Note 10) ~ (Note 9)  the investment
52 i/ EECER  EEARR Ef
RENAE FLmRAES HE W&/ (FB) WE/(B8) CHEE REE
RENRAH 84] S PAE LERE  REHZ  (BEW) (Witto)  (Ks) hEERE
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK§'000 HK$000
FET TET FET TEL FET FET  TET TET
Listed equity investments
(Continuea)
LTRARA(E)
Other listed equity investments 808 3,087 1,087
Bt LRARE
3,178 (23,367) 4333
Unlisted equity investments
FLRARE
Diamond Motto Limited 1.60% 4,667 4667 - - - - 1,667 6,240
Guongdong Jingyeng Aquaculture
Company Limited (formerly
known as Guangzhou Jingyeng
Aquaculture Company Limited) 16.67% 4,220 4220 - - - - - 3,720
BREFKERRARAR (R :
ENmekERBARAR)
- - 1,667

For listed equity investments, net assets attributable to the
investment are based on latest published financial information
of the relevant investment. For unlisted equity investments,
net assets attributable to the investments are based on latest
financial statements or management accounts of the relevant

~investment.

RETRAREMS - RERBEEE
EFEARBRERE TIEZ &M
BER/IKE - SLIELMBRAREMS -
REFBRGEEEFEAEBRER
BXBHMBRRAEERAKE -
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27. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)
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27. REHERE

Capital commitments (a) EREIE
Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for is as BEIAEEREE 2 ERNR I
follows: T
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Investments ®E - 7,000
On 7" June, 2016, the Group entered into a sale and RZE—XRE~NALHB A&
purchase agreement with other investors for capital & E 5 % & ®Diamond Motto
investment in Diamond Motto Limited (“Diamond Motto”). Limited ([ Diamond Motto ]) &2
The Group acquired 16.67% of shares in Diamond Motto HMREETVEEG® AL
at a consideration of approximately HK$11,667,000. B Yz Diamond MottoZ 16.67%
Instalments amounted to approximately HK$4,667,000 - REX A11,667,000/8
had been paid during prior periods. The remaining T ° HEIRB494,677,000/& T2,
balance of approximately HK$7,000,000 had been paid REF I - 85 47,000,000
during the year ended 31 March, 2019. BTERBEZE-_ZT—NLFZA
=+—BLEFEAZM -
Operating lease commitments (b)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had entered
into the following future minimum lease payments in

EEREAE
RB|ERR - AKERE AT
HRAEMREEHRET ZRXK

respect of the office premises under non-cancellable REEMHESWT :
operating leases:
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET S
Within one year —&R - 264
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28.

HE-ZT-NF=A=+—RHILFE

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28. BEREBALIRS
During the year, the Group had the following transactions with its RER  REBEUATENEBEE AL
related parties: R5
2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FHET FET
Investment management fee paid to TR EEEETERER (a)
Upbest Assets Management Limited BRAA] 2,243 2,446
Performance fee payable to Upbest ENRRETERER (a)
Assets Management Limited BREAA] - -
Brokerage commission paid to Upbest INERAE TEEES (b)
Securities Company Limited BRAA 165 634
Handling fee for dividend collection paid X FBREHKFEE T (c)
to Upbest Securities Company Limited EREHBRAA 21 22
Commission paid to Upbest TRNAeTERSE (d)
Bullion Company Limited BREAA] - -
Interest paid to Upbest Investment TRABTERKRE (e)
Company Limited BRAT 57 75
Interest paid to Upbest Gold and IRAMETERSRES (f)
Silver Trading Limited BRAE - -
Storage fee paid to Upbest Bullion IRNEFEBTERS X (9)
Company Limited BREAA] 6 6
Placing expenses paid to Upbest IREEBRTEREES (h)
Securities Company Limited BRAA 608 =
Custodian fee paid to OCBC Wing Hang X ft5EE & FEBKZRIT (i)
Bank Limited BRAA 60 60
Rental paid to Champion Assets Limited ~ & FHEAR A A (J) 264 264
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28.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Company and a subsidiary of Upbest Group Limited,
Upbest Assets Management Limited (“UAML”) as investment
manager, had entered into a Third Investment Management
Agreement dated 26" January, 2016 and agreed that UAML
provided investment management services to the Company for
a period of three years from 1¢t April, 2016 to 31t March, 2019.
This agreement can be terminated by either the Company or
UAML serving not less than six months’ notice in writing prior
to the expiration. Pursuant to the investment management
agreement, monthly investment management fee is payable
at 1.5% per annum of the consolidated net asset value of the
Group as at the immediately preceding valuation date on the
actual number of days in the relevant calendar month over 365
days a year.

In addition to the investment management fee, a performance
fee payable in Hong Kong dollars equivalent to 20% of net
profit of the Group before taxation and before deduction of
the investment management fee payable under the investment
management agreements shall be paid to UAML for each
financial year.

The annual cap for the management fee and performance fee
for the financial year ended 31t March, 2019 is HK$13,300,000
(2018: HK$11,600,000). These continuing connected
transactions were approved on the extraordinary general
meeting of the shareholders held on 24" August, 2016. There
was no performance fee for the financial years ended 31¢
March, 2019 and 2018, and the management fee has been
included under administrative and other operating expenses.

On 25" January, 2019, the Company and UAML have entered
into the New Investment Management Agreement. Pursuant
to the New Investment Management Agreement, monthly
investment management fee is payable by the Company in
advance and amounts to 1.5% per annum of the net asset value
as at the immediately preceding valuation date on the basis
of the actual number of days in the relevant calendar month
over a year of 365 days. In addition to the management fee,
provided that the net asset value as at the end of the relevant
financial year exceeds the higher (the “High Watermark”) of (i)
the net asset value as at the end of the reference year; and (ii)
the net asset value as at the end of the most recent financial
year after the reference year and in which the performance fee
was paid. The Company will pay UAML the performance fee for
the relevant financial year in Hong Kong dollars equal to 20%
of the amount by which the net asset value as at the end of the
relevant financial year exceed the High Watermark.

28.
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Wit

(a)

BERBBALRS (

RARAFREEZEEB T —HBARZE
BREBBERAR([ERER]) B
B\ R E—R"F—A=1+H
BIFE=NREEEYS YRR
XEREBRRARRREAH=-FNEK
EEERFEA-_ZT—A~"FOA—HZE
—E-AE=A=+—H - ENHH
AUNBAARSERERERDRA
AANZEAENRLE - REKEERE
Wi BAZREBEEENEALE
HERCEEFE1 5% ZENERE
BWEAERBER AR FI/HZE
Lo

BREREEEEN REEMRBFE -
BRI NERZERREREER
BRI R R IFERE B R BT A
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

28. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) (continued)

The annual cap for the investment management fee and
performance fee for the financial years ending 31t March,
2020, 2021 and 2022 are HK$8,600,000, HK$9,100,000 and
HK$9,600,000 respectively. It is expected that the total of
investment management fee and performance fee will be
less than HK$10,000,000 per annum and all the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules) in respect of the New Investment Management
Agreement are less than 25%. Thus, transaction contemplated
under the New Investment Management Agreements is
considered to be a de-minimis transaction for the Company
pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

(b) The Company and two of its subsidiaries and Upbest Securities
Company Limited (“USCL”) had entered into Securities
Brokerage Supplemental Agreements dated 26" January, 2016
for the transaction in relation to the securities brokerage service
and agreed that the original agreement was further extended
for a period of three years from 1%t April, 2016 to 31 March,
2019. Another two subsidiaries of the Company had entered into
second supplemental agreement with USCL dated 31¢ March,
2017 in respect of securities brokerage service for extension of
the period from 1t April, 2017 to 31% March, 2018, and the third
supplemental agreement dated 31t March, 2018 to extend the
period from 1%t April, 2018 to 31t March, 2019.

Brokerage commission fee is charged at 0.25% (2018: 0.25%),
the prevailing market rate, on the value of the transactions.

It was expected that the annual brokerage commission was
less than HK$3,000,000 per annum (annual cap of 2018:
HK$3,000,000) and that transactions contemplated under the
Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements are considered
to be a de-minimis transaction for the Company pursuant the
Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rule.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

28.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

On 25" January, 2019, the Company and four of its subsidiaries
and USCL have entered into the 2019 Securities Brokerage
Supplemental Agreements and agreed that the original
agreement will be extended from the period of 1%t April, 2019
to 31% March, 2022. It is expected that the annual brokerage
commission will be less than HK$3,000,000 per annum
and all the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) are less than 5%. Thus,
transaction contemplated under the 2019 Securities Brokerage
Supplemental Agreements is considered to be a de-minimis
transaction for the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules.

Handling fee for dividend collection is charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.5% per transaction amount.

Bullion commission is charged at a range from US$10 to US$50
(2018: US$10 to US$50) per transaction.

The Company and two of its subsidiaries had separately
entered into Financial Assistance supplemental agreements
with Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") in relation to
the provision of securities margin financing service. According
to the Financial Assistance supplemental agreements, the
respective relevant original agreement is further extended for
a period of three years to 31 March, 2019. The agreement is
subject to renewal by written supplemental agreements between
the contracting parties. The securities margin financing services
interest rate is charged at 4.25% (2018: 4.25%) above prime
rate per annum inclusive of custodian fee; and the provision of
IPO financing at an interest rate from 0.2% to 1.5% (2018: 0.2%
to 1.5%) per annum above the borrowing costs of UICL. For the
financial year ended 315 March, 2019 interest for the securities
margin accounts was charged at 9.5% (2018: 9.5%) per annum.
No IPO financing interest paid for the financial years ended 31
March, 2019 and 2018.

On 25" January, 2019, the Company and two of its subsidiaries
and UICL have entered into the Financial Assistance
Supplemental Agreement and agreed that the agreement will
be extended with major terms unchanged from the period of 1
April, 2019 to 31¢t March, 2022.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

28.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(f) A subsidiary of the Company has entered into the Precious Metal
Financial Assistance Agreement dated 26™ January, 2016 with
Upbest Gold and Silver Trading Limited (“UGS”) in relation to
the provision of precious metal margin financing service by UGS
to the subsidiary. According to the Precious Metal Financial
Assistance Agreement, the subsidiary and UGS agreed that
the term for the Precious Metal Financial Assistance Agreement
shall be for a period commencing from 1t April, 2016 to 31
March, 2019 and is subject to renewal by written supplemental
agreement between the contract parties.

The interest rate for the precious metal financing service was
from 0.25% to 0.50% per annum above the borrowing costs of
UGS for call position. In respect of put position, the interest rate
would be 0.25% to 0.50% per annum on top of the borrowing
costs of UGS (if any) provided that if UGS would receive any
interest from its supplier(s), the subsidiary may set off such
financing fee against the interest received by UGS from its
supplier(s). For avoidance of doubt, any remaining interest
received by UGS from it supplier(s) after such set-off in respect
of such put position will be paid to the subsidiary.

On 25" January, 2019, UGS had entered into the Precious Metal
Supplemental Agreement with the subsidiary of the Company
in relation to the provision of precious metal margin financing
service by UGS to the subsidiary. According the Precious Metal
Supplemental Agreement, the subsidiary and UGS agreed that
the term for the Precious Metal Financial Assistance Agreement
will be extended for a period commencing from 1%t April,
2019 to 31t March, 2022 and is subject to renewal by written
supplemental agreement between the contract parties.

The annual cap regarding the securities and bullion margin financial
assistance (as disclosed in note (e) and note (f)) for each of the financial
year up to 31t March, 2019 is HK$60,000,000 (2018: HK$60,000,000).
These continuing connected transactions were approved on the
extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders held on 24" August,
2016.

The annual cap regarding the securities and bullion margin financial
assistance (as disclosed in note (e) and note (f)) is HK$63,000,000
for each of the financial years ending 31" March, 2020, 2021 and
2022. These continuing connected transactions were approved on the
extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders held on 26" March,
2019.

(9) Storage fee for bullion trading is charged at US$2 (2018: US$2)
per day.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

28.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(h)

Placing expenses represent expenses paid to Upbest Securities
Company Limited in respect of the placing of new shares
completed on 4" January, 2019 in accordance with the terms of
the Placing Agreement.

Pursuant to a custodian agreement dated 22" December, 1999,
between the Group and a custodian, the custodian agrees to
provide securities custodian services to the Group including
the safe custody of the Group’s securities and the settlement
of the securities of the Group, the collection of dividends and
other entitlements on behalf of the Group. The appointment of
the custodian commenced on the date of commencement of
trading of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange and will
continue in force until it is terminated by either party giving a
written notice to the other party at any time.

The custodian is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules, but the
custodian fee falls below the de-minimis threshold under Rule
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has entered into a tenancy agreement with
Champion Assets Limited since 1%t January, 2011. On 8" March,
2018, the tenancy agreement was renewed and commenced on
1t April, 2018 with a term of one year. The total rent paid during
the year ended 31t March, 2019 amounted to HK$264,000
(2018: HK$264,000). The transactions were carried out at an
amount agreed by both parties. The entire issued share capital
of Fung Fai Growth Limited, a substantial shareholder of the
Group, is owned by a trust of which the discretionary objects
are family members of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew, including
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles has beneficial interest in Champion
Assets Limited.

Fung Fai Growth Limited, an investment holding company,
holds approximately 26.74% of the Company. CCAA Group
Limited, an investment company, holds approximately 74.29%
(2018: 74.29%) interest in Upbest Group Limited. The ultimate
beneficial owner of Fung Fai Growth Limited and CCAA Group
Limited is Cheng’s Family Trust. UAML, UGS, USCL, Upbest
Commodities Company Limited and UICL are wholly-owned
subsidiaries, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability, the securities of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course of the
Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the parties.
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

RE P BHRRMEE
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29. ARFFBERRE

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B KR - 1
Interests in subsidiaries KRB AR 2= 89,590 85,128
Available-for-sale financial assets AL ETKEE - 488
89,590 85,617
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a related company JFE Ut — i B B A R R0R 5 16
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFERERRIIE L
A E 468 =
Cash and bank balances WE MIBITRE & 18,463 8,606
18,936 8,622
Current liabilities nEaE
Accruals e+ & 354 161
Net current assets REEEFE 18,582 8,461
Total assets less current liabilities BEEBERRBEE 108,172 94,078
Net assets EEFE 108,172 94,078
Capital and reserves ERK
Share capital [N 12,717 10,598
Reserves (Note (a)) @ (H1aE(a) 95,455 83,480
Total equity AR 108,172 94,078
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue BB RODEEZEEN_E—NFA
by the board of directors on 19" June, 2019 and are signed on TABEBERBEESL WAL TAL

its behalf by:

WONG Yun Kuen
Executive Director
HITEF
EHE

RERE

CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Executive Director
HITEE
#ER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 29,

(continued)
Note:

(a) Reserves of the Company
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ARABBRREK (F)

Wit -

Share Contributed Fair value Accumulated

premium surplus reserves losses Total
W17 1E BRARG DLTEREE REEE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
As at 1t April, 2017 NZZE—+F
MmA—H 92,564 4,188 (12) (10,305) 86,435
Loss for the year REEEE - = = (8,044) (3,044)
Other comprehensive AEEHMEE
income for the year W %5 - - 89 - 89
Total comprehensive AEEZ2HEEE
loss for the year k] = = 89 (3,044) (2,954)
As at 31'March, 2018 RZT—N\F=
A=+—8 92,564 4,188 77 (13,349) 83,480
Adoption of HKFRS 9 RE B R
EAEHFE IR = = (77) 7 -
As at 1%t April, 2018 (restated) A =T — \&F
MA—H
(&&&E5) 92,564 4,188 - (13,272) 83,480
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (2,678) (2,678)
Total comprehensive REEZHEEE
loss for the year as = = = (2,678) (2,678)
Placement of shares i & 57 A% 15,261 = = = 15,261
Share issuing expenses R 17 31T % (608) = = = (608)
As at 31t March, 2019 RZZ2—NEF
EF=ETr—F 107,217 4,188 - (15,950) 95,455
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BIBBREBGR A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

30.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries of the Company as at 31%' March, 2019 and 2018

were as follows:
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30. MEBARER
RZE-—NER_Z—

NE=ZA=+—

AZARAIMBATMT :

Issued and
fully paid
ordinary Percentage of
share capital equity interest held
Place of BETK FERERDILE
Name of subsidiary incorporation HERRZ Directly  Indirectly  Principal activity
WEAREH AL 3t B EBRA B B IZER
% %
Best Idea Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERKEE ETAT REER
Blaze Light Investments Limited* British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERKEE ETIT REER
Cyber Features Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100  Investment holding
RERKHEE ETAT REER
Effort Assets Limited Samoa US$1 100 - Investment holding
BED ETAT REER
Flavour Luck Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETIT REER
Lucky Joy Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETAT REER
Marine Assets Holding Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETAT REER
Profit Mind Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETAT REER
Rich Express Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
LERRBERRA KERTHES ETIT REER
Super Idea International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLES ETIT REER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31% March, 2019

30.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Subsidiaries of the Company as at 31% March, 2019 and 2018

were as follows: (Continued)

Annual Report 2019 4 #k

e E|RMEE

HE_Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

30 MBRAAER (£)
R-E-NER-_E-NF=A=1+—
BZARARKEBRARMT : (&)

Issued and
fully paid
ordinary Percentage of
share capital equity interest held
Place of ERTR HEREBDLER
Name of subsidiary incorporation BERRZ Directly  Indirectly  Principal activity
HERREH 2t 1 B 32 3t B BEBRA B Mg TEXR
% %
UBA Development Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERLEE ETIT REER
UBA Financial Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$2 50 50  Investment holding
e B2 and trading of
securities
REERLEFEE
UBA Gold Investment Limited Samoa US$1 100 - Bullion trading
BE S ETIT ESBEE
UBA Technologies Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRAES ETIT REZKR
UBA Venture Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
REBRAESE ETIT REZKR
Water Resource Holding Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRUES ETIT RERR
Water Resource Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Investment holding
BB BT RERR

*

March, 2019.

These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year ended 31¢

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at

the end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

- WHBRARIRBE_ZT-—AF=A
=t BALFEAFEMRKL -

EWBLRERFEARBRERFEE
e RALEEEHAEEEHES -
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED BEBIREBRA A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31* March, 2019

31.

32.

33.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 9 at 1¢t April, 2018. Under
the transition methods, comparative information is not restated.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no significant event took place subsequent to the end of
the reporting period.

APPROVAL AND AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19" June, 2019.

mEMBRRMEE

BEZZ-NF=RA=+—BILFE

31.

32,

33.

EREF
AEEER-_ZT-/\FOA-BERE
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UBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED
FBAKRERIRATA

Flat B, 16th Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel: 852 3575 9396

B BREHEP 3005
EHEEMEPO61EBE

E5h . 852 3575 9396
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